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PART I. – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

UNAUDITED

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(in thousands, except per common share amounts) 2024 2023 2024 2023

REVENUE $ 1,127,470  $ 1,021,751  $ 2,176,457  $ 1,798,051  

COST OF OPERATIONS ( 1,010,392 ) ( 956,790 ) ( 1,944,129 ) ( 1,757,259 )

GROSS PROFIT 117,078  64,961  232,328  40,792  

General and administrative expenses ( 76,585 ) ( 62,573 ) ( 143,029 ) ( 120,349 )

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS 40,493  2,388  89,299  ( 79,557 )

Other income, net 5,838  3,058  11,149  9,475  

Interest expense ( 23,084 ) ( 22,016 ) ( 42,391 ) ( 43,529 )

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES 23,247  ( 16,570 ) 58,057  ( 113,611 )

Income tax (expense) benefit ( 7,278 ) ( 194 ) ( 14,586 ) 47,918  

NET INCOME (LOSS) 15,969  ( 16,764 ) 43,471  ( 65,693 )

LESS: NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 15,157  20,770  26,899  21,037  

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION $ 812  $ ( 37,534 ) $ 16,572  $ ( 86,730 )

BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE $ 0.02  $ ( 0.72 ) $ 0.32  $ ( 1.68 )

DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE $ 0.02  $ ( 0.72 ) $ 0.31  $ ( 1.68 )

WEIGHTED-AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING:

BASIC 52,327  51,803  52,210  51,678  

DILUTED 52,848  51,803  52,682  51,678  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

UNAUDITED

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023

NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 15,969  $ ( 16,764 ) $ 43,471  $ ( 65,693 )

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS), NET OF TAX:

Defined benefit pension plan adjustments 321  296  642  597  

Foreign currency translation adjustments ( 703 ) 528  ( 1,630 ) 778  

Unrealized gain (loss) in fair value of investments 125  ( 592 ) ( 111 ) 737  

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS), NET OF TAX ( 257 ) 232  ( 1,099 ) 2,112  

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 15,712  ( 16,532 ) 42,372  ( 63,581 )

LESS: COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 14,964  21,171  26,239  21,591  

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION $ 748  $ ( 37,703 ) $ 16,133  $ ( 85,172 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

UNAUDITED

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

As of June 30,
2024

As of December 31,
2023

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents ($ 156,912 and $ 173,118 related to variable interest entities (“VIEs”)) $ 267,072  $ 380,564  

Restricted cash 12,417  14,116  

Restricted investments 134,182  130,287  

Accounts receivable ($ 60,049 and $ 84,014 related to VIEs) 1,087,369  1,054,014  

Retention receivable ($ 157,536 and $ 161,187 related to VIEs) 546,668  580,926  

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings ($ 87,833 and $ 58,089 related to VIEs) 1,160,710  1,143,846  

Other current assets ($ 18,918 and $ 26,725 related to VIEs) 187,822  217,601  

Total current assets 3,396,240  3,521,354  

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (“P&E”), net of accumulated depreciation of $ 548,937 and $ 534,171 (net P&E of $ 29,449 and $ 35,135
related to VIEs) 434,371  441,291  

GOODWILL 205,143  205,143  

INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET 67,187  68,305  

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 67,284  74,083  

OTHER ASSETS 123,523  119,680  

TOTAL ASSETS $ 4,293,748  $ 4,429,856  

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Current maturities of long-term debt $ 18,602  $ 117,431  

Accounts payable ($ 28,980 and $ 24,160 related to VIEs) 622,776  466,545  

Retention payable ($ 18,444 and $ 22,841 related to VIEs) 223,962  223,138  

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings ($ 394,866 and $ 439,759 related to VIEs) 987,447  1,103,530  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities ($ 10,620 and $ 18,206 related to VIEs) 207,877  214,309  

Total current liabilities 2,060,664  2,124,953  

LONG-TERM DEBT, less current maturities, net of unamortized discount and debt issuance costs totaling $ 31,387 and $ 11,000 657,835  782,314  

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 259,132  238,678  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,977,631  3,145,945  

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 11)

EQUITY

Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock - authorized 1,000,000 shares ($ 1 par value), none issued —  —  

Common stock - authorized 112,500,000 shares ($ 1 par value), issued and outstanding 52,389,430 and 52,025,497 shares 52,389  52,025  

Additional paid-in capital 1,148,074  1,146,204  

Retained earnings 149,718  133,146  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss ( 40,226 ) ( 39,787 )

Total stockholders' equity 1,309,955  1,291,588  

Noncontrolling interests 6,162  ( 7,677 )

TOTAL EQUITY 1,316,117  1,283,911  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 4,293,748  $ 4,429,856  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

UNAUDITED

Six Months Ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Net income (loss) $ 43,471  $ ( 65,693 )

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 26,470  19,636  

Amortization of intangible assets 1,118  1,118  

Share-based compensation expense 22,437  5,637  

Change in debt discounts and deferred debt issuance costs 4,366  2,005  

Deferred income taxes 5,969  ( 68,256 )

(Gain) loss on sale of property and equipment 595  ( 5,038 )

Changes in other components of working capital 49,150  188,761  

Other long-term liabilities 1,188  ( 2,152 )

Other, net ( 3,351 ) 1,632  

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 151,413  77,650  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Acquisition of property and equipment ( 21,352 ) ( 30,623 )

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 1,434  6,758  

Investments in securities ( 22,073 ) ( 14,521 )

Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments in securities 17,979  9,227  

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ( 24,012 ) ( 29,159 )

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Proceeds from debt 597,900  537,500  

Repayment of debt ( 800,819 ) ( 571,332 )

Cash payments related to share-based compensation ( 2,194 ) ( 284 )

Distributions paid to noncontrolling interests ( 12,400 ) ( 15,250 )

Contributions from noncontrolling interests —  2,000  

Debt issuance, extinguishment and modification costs ( 25,079 ) ( 497 )

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES ( 242,592 ) ( 47,863 )

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash ( 115,191 ) 628  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 394,680  273,831  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 279,489  $ 274,459  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

6



Table of Contents

TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNAUDITED

(1) Basis of Presentation

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements do not include footnotes and certain financial information normally presented annually under generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (“GAAP”). Therefore, they should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Tutor Perini
Corporation’s (the “Company”) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023. The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 may not
be indicative of the results that will be achieved for the full year ending December 31, 2024.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements reflect all adjustments, including those of a normal recurring nature,
necessary to present fairly the Company’s consolidated financial position as of June 30, 2024 and its consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the interim periods
presented. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. Certain amounts in the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of prior years have
been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

(2) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-07, Segment Reporting (“Topic 280”): Improvements to
Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07”), which requires disclosure of incremental segment information on an interim and annual basis. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, and requires retrospective application to all prior periods presented
in the financial statements. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on the consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (“Topic 740”): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures  (“ASU 2023-09”), which requires public entities to disclose
specific categories in its annual effective tax rate reconciliation and disaggregated information about significant reconciling items by jurisdiction and by nature. ASU 2023-09 also requires
entities to disclose their income tax payments (net of refunds) to international, federal, and state and local jurisdictions. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2024, and requires prospective application with the option to apply it retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this
guidance on the consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

(3) Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following tables disaggregate revenue by end market, customer type and contract type, which the Company believes best depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
its revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Civil segment revenue by end market:

Mass transit (includes certain transportation and tunneling projects) $ 289,587  $ 361,082  $ 542,103  $ 549,542  

Military facilities 117,779  83,811  222,923  169,378  

Bridges 62,308  51,326  89,980  81,971  

Commercial and industrial sites 36,630  29,192  76,120  51,918  

Power and energy 35,728  15,159  61,926  25,335  

Other 4,456  13,553  25,601  25,849  

Total Civil segment revenue $ 546,488  $ 554,123  $ 1,018,653  $ 903,993  

7
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TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

UNAUDITED

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Building segment revenue by end market:

Healthcare facilities $ 135,954  $ 55,839  $ 247,941  $ 106,256  

Government 114,118  97,814  244,729  187,434  

Education facilities 84,190  54,420  152,349  102,497  

Mass transit (includes transportation projects) 57,323  62,871  118,498  96,191  

Sports and entertainment 10,621  13,364  26,260  26,830  

Commercial and industrial facilities 4,073  16,026  15,442  54,297  

Hospitality and gaming 3,636  16,979  6,388  36,585  

Other 7,951  14,029  18,201  ( 49,095 )

Total Building segment revenue $ 417,866  $ 331,342  $ 829,808  $ 560,995  

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Specialty Contractors segment revenue by end market:

Mass transit (includes certain transportation and tunneling projects) $ 48,826  $ 4,973  $ 96,952  $ 52,518  

Commercial and industrial facilities 30,213  53,583  58,423  107,810  

Multi-unit residential 20,298  29,207  45,024  62,003  

Government 18,491  20,763  41,444  41,832  

Healthcare facilities 14,718  14,048  31,428  23,579  

Water 14,702  20,147  28,918  48,481  

Other 15,868  ( 6,435 ) 25,807  ( 3,160 )

Total Specialty Contractors segment revenue $ 163,116  $ 136,286  $ 327,996  $ 333,063  

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2024

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2023

(in thousands) Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total

Revenue by customer type:

State and local agencies $ 345,619  $ 248,117  $ 83,127  $ 676,863  $ 403,013  $ 177,247  $ 54,879  $ 635,139  

Federal agencies 119,312  46,085  339  165,736  98,711  47,090  ( 5,414 ) 140,387  

Private owners 81,557  123,664  79,650  284,871  52,399  107,005  86,821  246,225  

Total revenue $ 546,488  $ 417,866  $ 163,116  $ 1,127,470  $ 554,123  $ 331,342  $ 136,286  $ 1,021,751  

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2024

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2023

(in thousands) Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total

Revenue by customer type:

State and local agencies $ 629,614  $ 494,636  $ 160,080  $ 1,284,330  $ 616,440  $ 313,848  $ 140,561  $ 1,070,849  

Federal agencies 232,766  92,137  778  325,681  194,695  88,825  ( 3,521 ) 279,999  

Private owners 156,273  243,035  167,138  566,446  92,858  158,322  196,023  447,203  

Total revenue $ 1,018,653  $ 829,808  $ 327,996  $ 2,176,457  $ 903,993  $ 560,995  $ 333,063  $ 1,798,051  

(a)

(a)

(a)
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TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

UNAUDITED

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2024

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2023

(in thousands) Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total

Revenue by contract type:

Fixed price $ 452,823  $ 186,050  $ 136,345  $ 775,218  $ 488,343  $ 136,053  $ 110,552  $ 734,948  

Guaranteed maximum price 88  190,643  937  191,668  ( 107 ) 125,070  ( 1,734 ) 123,229  

Unit price 75,313  —  20,280  95,593  58,662  —  21,068  79,730  

Cost plus fee and other 18,264  41,173  5,554  64,991  7,225  70,219  6,400  83,844  

Total revenue $ 546,488  $ 417,866  $ 163,116  $ 1,127,470  $ 554,123  $ 331,342  $ 136,286  $ 1,021,751  

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2024

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2023

(in thousands) Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total

Revenue by contract type:

Fixed price $ 875,543  $ 356,196  $ 275,848  $ 1,507,587  $ 799,716  $ 232,169  $ 276,707  $ 1,308,592  

Guaranteed maximum price 134  377,943  1,560  379,637  ( 45 ) 194,848  22  194,825  

Unit price 109,167  —  40,825  149,992  91,674  —  45,132  136,806  

Cost plus fee and other 33,809  95,669  9,763  139,241  12,648  133,978  11,202  157,828  

Total revenue $ 1,018,653  $ 829,808  $ 327,996  $ 2,176,457  $ 903,993  $ 560,995  $ 333,063  $ 1,798,051  

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

(a) The six-month period ended June 30, 2023 includes the negative impact of a non-cash charge of $ 83.6  million that resulted from an adverse legal ruling (of which $ 72.2  million
impacted the Building segment and $ 11.4  million impacted the Specialty Contractors segment). Refer to Note 18, Business Segments, for additional details.

Changes in Contract Estimates that Impact Revenue

Changes to the total estimated contract revenue or cost for a given project, either due to unexpected events or revisions to management’s initial estimates, are recognized in the period
in which they are determined. Revenue was negatively impacted during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 related to performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied)
in prior periods by $ 9.0 million and $ 15.6 million, respectively. Revenue was negatively impacted during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 related to performance
obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in prior periods by $ 3.1 million and $ 108.3  million, respectively. Refer to Note 18, Business Segments, for additional details on significant
adjustments.

Remaining Performance Obligations

Remaining performance obligations represent the transaction price of firm orders for which work has not been performed and exclude unexercised contract options. As of June 30, 2024,
the aggregate amounts of the transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations of the Company’s construction contracts were $ 4.4  billion, $ 2.2  billion and $ 1.1
 billion for the Civil, Building and Specialty Contractors segments, respectively. As of June 30, 2023, the aggregate amounts of the transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations of the Company’s construction contracts were $ 4.6  billion, $ 2.4  billion and $ 1.2  billion for the Civil, Building and Specialty Contractors segments,
respectively. The Company typically recognizes revenue on Civil segment projects over a period of three to five years , whereas for projects in the Building and Specialty Contractors
segments, the Company typically recognizes revenue over a period of one to three years .

(4) Contract Assets and Liabilities

The Company classifies contract assets and liabilities that may be settled beyond one year from the balance sheet date as current, consistent with the length of time of the Company’s
project operating cycle.

(a)

9
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TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

UNAUDITED

Contract assets include amounts due under retention provisions, costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings and capitalized contract costs. The amounts as included on the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following:

(in thousands)

As of June 30,
2024

As of December 31,
2023

Retention receivable $ 546,668  $ 580,926  

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings:

Claims 511,564  562,646  

Unapproved change orders 565,269  512,831  

Other unbilled costs and profits 83,877  68,369  

Total costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 1,160,710  1,143,846  

Capitalized contract costs 95,732  117,913  

Total contract assets $ 1,803,110  $ 1,842,685  

Retention receivable represents amounts invoiced to customers where payments have been partially withheld pending the completion of certain milestones, satisfaction of other
contractual conditions or the completion of the project. Retention agreements vary from project to project, and balances could be outstanding for several months or years depending on a
number of circumstances such as contract-specific terms, project performance and other variables that may arise as the Company makes progress toward completion.

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings represent the excess of contract costs and profits (or contract revenue) over the amount of contract billings to date and are classified
as a current asset. Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings result when either: (1) the appropriate contract revenue amount has been recognized over time in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers  (“ASC 606”), but a portion of the revenue recorded cannot be billed currently due to the billing
terms defined in the contract, or (2) costs are incurred related to certain claims and unapproved change orders. Claims occur when there is a dispute regarding both a change in the
scope of work and the price associated with that change. Unapproved change orders occur when a change in the scope of work results in additional work being performed before the
parties have agreed on the corresponding change in the contract price. The Company routinely estimates recovery related to claims and unapproved change orders as a form of variable
consideration at the most likely amount it expects to receive and to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. Claims and unapproved change orders are billable upon the agreement and resolution between the contractual parties
and after the execution of contractual amendments. Increases in claims and unapproved change orders typically result from costs being incurred against existing or new positions;
decreases normally result from resolutions and subsequent billings. As discussed in Note 11, Commitments and Contingencies, the resolution of these claims and unapproved change
orders may require litigation or other forms of dispute resolution proceedings. Other unbilled costs and profits are billable in accordance with the billing terms of each of the existing
contractual arrangements and, as such, the timing of contract billing cycles can cause fluctuations in the balance of unbilled costs and profits. Ultimate resolution of other unbilled costs
and profits typically involves incremental progress toward contractual requirements or milestones.

Capitalized contract costs are included in other current assets and primarily represent costs to fulfill a contract that (1) directly relate to an existing or anticipated contract, (2) generate or
enhance resources that will be used in satisfying performance obligations in the future and (3) are expected to be recovered through the contract. Capitalized contract costs are
generally expensed to the associated contract over the period of anticipated use on the project. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, $ 15.6 million and $ 31.9 million,
respectively, of previously capitalized contract costs were amortized and recognized as expense on the related contracts. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, $ 9.0
million and $ 19.8  million, respectively, of previously capitalized contract costs were amortized and recognized as expense on the related contracts.

10
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TUTOR PERINI CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

UNAUDITED

Contract liabilities include amounts owed under retention provisions and billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings. The amount as reported on the Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets consisted of the following:

(in thousands)

As of June 30,
2024

As of December 31,
2023

Retention payable $ 223,962  $ 223,138  

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings 987,447  1,103,530  

Total contract liabilities $ 1,211,409  $ 1,326,668  

Retention payable represents amounts invoiced to the Company by subcontractors where payments have been partially withheld pending the completion of certain milestones, other
contractual conditions or upon the completion of the project. Generally, retention payable is not remitted to subcontractors until the associated retention receivable from customers is
collected.

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings represent the excess of contract billings to date over the amount of contract costs and profits (or contract revenue) recognized to date.
The balance may fluctuate depending on the timing of contract billings and the recognition of contract revenue. Revenue recognized during the three and six months ended June 30,
2024 and included in the opening billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings balances for each period totaled $ 483.2  million and $ 726.3  million, respectively. Revenue
recognized during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and included in the opening billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings balances for each period totaled $ 439.5
 million and $ 564.4  million, respectively.

(5) Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets to the amounts shown in the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:

(in thousands)

As of June 30,
2024

As of December 31,
2023

Cash and cash equivalents available for general corporate purposes $ 84,118  $ 145,055  

Joint venture cash and cash equivalents 182,954  235,509  

Cash and cash equivalents 267,072  380,564  

Restricted cash 12,417  14,116  

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 279,489  $ 394,680  

Cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when acquired. Cash and cash equivalents consist of amounts available for the
Company’s general purposes, the Company’s proportionate share of cash held by the Company’s unconsolidated joint ventures and 100% of amounts held by the Company’s
consolidated joint ventures. In both cases, cash held by joint ventures is available only for joint venture-related uses, including future distributions to joint venture partners.

Restricted cash includes amounts primarily held as collateral to secure insurance-related contingent obligations, such as insurance claim deductibles, in lieu of letters of credit.

(6) Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share (“EPS”) and diluted EPS are calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to Tutor Perini Corporation by the following: for basic EPS, the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period; and for diluted EPS, the sum of the weighted-average number of both outstanding common shares and
potentially dilutive securities, which for the Company can include restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and unexercised stock options. The Company calculates the effect of the potentially
dilutive RSUs and stock options using the treasury stock method.
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Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

(in thousands, except per common share data) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Net income (loss) attributable to Tutor Perini Corporation $ 812  $ ( 37,534 ) $ 16,572  $ ( 86,730 )

Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic 52,327  51,803  52,210  51,678  

Effect of dilutive RSUs and stock options 521  —  472  —  

Weighted-average common shares outstanding, diluted 52,848  51,803  52,682  51,678  

Net income (loss) attributable to Tutor Perini Corporation per common share:

Basic $ 0.02  $ ( 0.72 ) $ 0.32  $ ( 1.68 )

Diluted $ 0.02  $ ( 0.72 ) $ 0.31  $ ( 1.68 )

Anti-dilutive securities not included above 925  3,163  1,173  3,010  

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, all outstanding RSUs and stock options were excluded from the calculation of weighted-average diluted shares outstanding, as the
shares have an anti-dilutive effect due to the net loss for the periods.

(7) Income Taxes

The Company recognized an income tax expense of $ 7.3 million and $ 14.6  million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively. The effective income tax rate was
31.3 % and 25.1 % for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively. The effective income tax rate for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was higher
than the 21.0% federal statutory income tax rate primarily due to non-deductible expenses and state income taxes (net of the federal tax benefit), partially offset by the earnings
attributable to noncontrolling interests (for which income taxes are not the responsibility of the Company).

The Company recognized an income tax expense of $ 0.2  million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and an income tax benefit of $ 47.9  million for the six months ended
June 30, 2023. The effective income tax rate was ( 1.2 )% and 42.2 % for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The effective income tax rate for the three months
ended June 30, 2023 was lower than the 21.0% federal statutory rate primarily due to the impact of a cumulative catch-up adjustment associated with the change in the Company’s
projected 2023 effective tax rate that resulted from the revision of the Company’s forecast. The effective income tax rates for both periods were impacted by relatively large tax benefits
generated against a forecasted pre-tax loss for the year, which magnified the impact these tax benefits had on the effective income tax rate. In periods with pre-tax losses, tax benefits
generated during the period increase the effective income tax rate (and, thus, the income tax benefit to the Company) rather than decreasing the effective rate, as in periods with pre-tax
income. The tax benefits that caused a higher effective tax rate primarily included the earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests (for which income taxes are not the responsibility of
the Company) and state income taxes (net of the federal tax benefit), partially offset by non-deductible expenses.
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(8) Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The following table presents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill since its inception through June 30, 2024:

(in thousands) Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total

Gross goodwill as of December 31, 2023 $ 492,074  $ 424,724  $ 156,193  $ 1,072,991  

Accumulated impairment as of December 31, 2023 ( 286,931 ) ( 424,724 ) ( 156,193 ) ( 867,848 )

Goodwill as of December 31, 2023 205,143  —  —  205,143  

Current year activity —  —  —  —  

Goodwill as of June 30, 2024 $ 205,143  $ —  $ —  $ 205,143  

The Company performed its annual impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2023 and concluded goodwill was no t impaired. In addition, the Company determined that no triggering
events occurred and no circumstances changed since the date of its annual impairment test that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the Civil reporting unit below its
carrying amount.

The Company will continue to monitor events and circumstances for changes that indicate the Civil reporting unit goodwill would need to be reevaluated for impairment during future
interim periods prior to the annual impairment test. These future events and circumstances include, but are not limited to, changes in the overall financial performance of the Civil
reporting unit, as well as other quantitative and qualitative factors which could indicate potential triggering events for possible impairment.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following:

As of June 30, 2024

Weighted-Average
Amortization Period(in thousands) Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Accumulated
 Impairment Charge Carrying Value

Trade names (non-amortizable) $ 117,600  $ — $ ( 67,190 ) $ 50,410  Indefinite

Trade names (amortizable) 69,250  ( 29,241 ) ( 23,232 ) 16,777  20 years

Contractor license 6,000  — ( 6,000 ) —  N/A

Customer relationships 39,800  ( 23,155 ) ( 16,645 ) —  N/A

Construction contract backlog 149,290  ( 149,290 ) — —  N/A

Total $ 381,940  $ ( 201,686 ) $ ( 113,067 ) $ 67,187  

As of December 31, 2023

Weighted-Average
Amortization Period(in thousands) Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Accumulated
 Impairment Charge Carrying Value

Trade names (non-amortizable) $ 117,600  $ — $ ( 67,190 ) $ 50,410  Indefinite

Trade names (amortizable) 69,250  ( 28,123 ) ( 23,232 ) 17,895  20 years

Contractor license 6,000  — ( 6,000 ) —  N/A

Customer relationships 39,800  ( 23,155 ) ( 16,645 ) —  N/A

Construction contract backlog 149,290  ( 149,290 ) — —  N/A

Total $ 381,940  $ ( 200,568 ) $ ( 113,067 ) $ 68,305  
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Amortization expense related to amortizable intangible assets for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was $ 0.6  million and $ 1.1  million, respectively. Amortization expense
related to amortizable intangible assets for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 was $ 0.6  million and $ 1.1  million, respectively. As of June 30, 2024, future amortization
expense related to amortizable intangible assets will be approximately $ 1.1  million for the remainder of 2024, $ 2.2  million per year for the years 2025 through 2029 and $ 4.7  million
thereafter.

The Company performed its annual impairment test for non-amortizable trade names during the fourth quarter of 2023. Based on this assessment, the Company concluded that its non-
amortizable trade names were not impaired. In addition, the Company determined that no triggering events occurred and no circumstances changed since the date of its annual
impairment test that would indicate impairment of its non-amortizable trade names. Other amortizable intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever circumstances indicate
that the future cash flows generated by the assets might be less than the assets’ net carrying value. The Company had no impairment of intangible assets during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2024 or 2023.

(9) Financial Commitments

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt as reported on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following:

(in thousands)

As of June 30,
2024

As of December 31,
2023

2024 Senior Notes $ 376,232  $ —  

2017 Senior Notes —  498,410  

Term Loan B 266,369  357,744  

Revolver —  —  

Equipment financing and mortgages 31,724  34,807  

Other indebtedness 2,112  8,784  

Total debt 676,437  899,745  

Less: Current maturities 18,602  117,431  

Long-term debt, net $ 657,835  $ 782,314  

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

(a) Current maturities at December 31, 2023 included the $ 91.0 million principal prepayment on the Term Loan B that was made in February 2024.

The following table reconciles the outstanding debt balances to the reported debt balances as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

As of June 30, 2024 As of December 31, 2023

(in thousands) Outstanding Debt
Unamortized Discounts

and Issuance Costs
Debt,

as reported Outstanding Debt
Unamortized Discounts

and Issuance Costs
Debt,

as reported

2024 Senior Notes $ 400,000  $ ( 23,768 ) $ 376,232  $ —  $ —  $ —  

2017 Senior Notes —  —  —  500,000  ( 1,590 ) 498,410  

Term Loan B 273,988  ( 7,619 ) 266,369  367,154  ( 9,410 ) 357,744  

The unamortized issuance costs related to the Revolver wer e $ 1.7 million and $ 1.4 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, and are included in other assets
on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

2024 Senior Notes

On April 22, 2024, the Company issued $ 400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 11.875 % Senior Notes due April 30, 2029 (the “2024 Senior Notes”) in a private placement
offering. Interest on the 2024 Senior Notes is payable in arrears semi-annually in April and October of each year, beginning in October 2024. The proceeds from the 2024 Senior Notes
were used to redeem the 2017 Senior Notes (as discussed below).

(a)
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Prior to April 30, 2026, the Company may redeem the 2024 Senior Notes at a redemption price equal to 100 % of the principal amount plus a “make-whole” premium described in the
indenture. In addition, prior to April 30, 2026, the Company may redeem up to 40 % of the original aggregate principal amount of the 2024 Senior Notes at a redemption price of 111.875
% of their principal amount with the “net cash proceeds” received by the Company from one or more equity offerings, as described in the indenture. On or after April 30, 2026, the
Company may redeem the 2024 Senior Notes at specified redemption prices described in the indenture. If the Company experiences certain change of control events, holders of the
2024 Senior Notes may require the Company to repurchase all or part of the 2024 Senior Notes at 101 % of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the
redemption date.

The 2024 Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and are guaranteed by the Company’s existing and future subsidiaries that also guarantee obligations under
the Company’s 2020 Credit Agreement. In addition, the indenture for the 2024 Senior Notes provides for customary covenants, including restrictions on the payment of dividends and
share repurchases, and includes customary events of default.

Redemption of 2017 Senior Notes

On April 20, 2017, the Company issued $ 500.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.875 % Senior Notes due May 1, 2025 (the “2017 Senior Notes”) in a private placement
offering.

The proceeds of the 2024 Senior Notes, together with cash on hand, were used to redeem in full, all of the outstanding obligations in respect of the 2017 Senior Notes. The redemption
of the 2017 Senior Notes occurred on May 2, 2024 (the “2017 Senior Notes Redemption”).

2020 Credit Agreement

On August 18, 2020, the Company entered into a credit agreement (as amended, the “2020 Credit Agreement”) with BMO Bank N.A. (f/k/a BMO Harris Bank N.A.), as Administrative
Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer and other lenders. The 2020 Credit Agreement originally provided for a $ 425.0  million term loan B facility (the “Term Loan B”) and a $ 175.0
million revolving credit facility (the “Revolver”), which was subsequently reduced to $ 170.0 million following the effectiveness of the 2024 Amendment (as defined and discussed below),
with sub-limits for the issuance of letters of credit and swing line loans up to the aggregate amounts of $ 75.0  million and $ 10.0  million, respectively. The Term Loan B will mature on
August 18, 2027. Prior to the 2017 Senior Notes Redemption, if any of the 2017 Senior Notes had remained outstanding beyond certain dates, the maturities of the Term Loan B and the
Revolver would have been subject to acceleration (“spring-forward maturity”). However, following the 2017 Senior Notes Redemption and the consummation of the 2024 Amendment,
the spring-forward maturity of the Term Loan B is no longer in effect and the spring-forward maturity of the Revolver has been extended (as described below).

On April 15, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment in respect of the 2020 Credit Agreement (the “2024 Amendment”) which, among other changes, (1) extends the existing
Revolver maturity date from August 18, 2025 to (a) if any tranche of the Term Loan B, any incremental term loan or any refinancing term loan (or any refinancing or replacement thereof)
remains outstanding, the earlier of (i) May 20, 2027 and (ii) the date that is ninety ( 90 ) days prior to the final maturity of any tranche of the Term Loan B, any incremental term loan or
any refinancing term loan (or any refinancing or replacement thereof), as applicable, and (b) if no obligations are outstanding with respect to any tranche of the Term Loan B, any
incremental term loan or any refinancing term loan, August 18, 2027 and (2) permanently reduces the aggregate commitments in respect of the Revolver by $ 5.0  million from $ 175.0
million to $ 170.0 million. The 2024 Amendment became effective on May 2, 2024 upon the completion of the 2017 Senior Notes Redemption.

The 2020 Credit Agreement permits the Company to repay any or all borrowings outstanding under the 2020 Credit Agreement at any time prior to maturity without penalty. The 2020
Credit Agreement requires the Company to make regularly scheduled payments of principal on the Term Loan B in quarterly installments equal to 0.25 % of the initial principal amount of
the Term Loan B. The 2020 Credit Agreement also requires the Company to make prepayments on the Term Loan B in connection with certain asset sales, receipts of insurance
proceeds, incurrences of certain indebtedness and annual excess cash flow (in each case, subject to certain customary exceptions). At December 31, 2023, current maturities of long-
term debt in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet included $ 91.0 million prepayment of principal on the Term Loan B, relating to the mandatory prepayment
provision of the 2020 Credit Agreement in respect of annual excess cash flow. The $ 91.0 million prepayment included in current maturities at December 31, 2023, which was due by the
first week of April 2024, was paid in February 2024.
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Subject to certain exceptions, at any time prior to maturity, the 2020 Credit Agreement provides the Company with the right to increase the commitments under the Revolver and/or to
establish one or more term loan facilities in an aggregate amount up to (i) the greater of $ 173.5  million and 50 % LTM EBITDA (as defined in the 2020 Credit Agreement) plus (ii)
additional amounts if (A) in the case of pari passu first lien secured indebtedness, the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the 2020 Credit Agreement) does not exceed 1.35
:1.00, (B) in the case of junior lien secured indebtedness, the Total Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the 2020 Credit Agreement) does not exceed 3.50 :1.00 and (C) in the case of
unsecured indebtedness, (x) the Total Net Leverage Ratio does not exceed 3.50 :1.00 or (y) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the 2020 Credit Agreement) is no less than
2.00 :1.00.

Borrowings under the 2020 Credit Agreement bear interest, at the Company’s option, at a rate equal to (i) (A) in the case of the Term Loan B, following the amendment to the 2020
Credit Agreement on May 2, 2023 (as discussed below), (x) the Adjusted Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“Adjusted Term SOFR”) (calculated with a 11.448 basis point, 26.161
basis point and 42.826 basis point credit spread adjustment for a 1, 3 and 6 month interest period, respectively) or (y) a base rate (determined by reference to the highest of (1) the
administrative agent’s prime lending rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 50 basis points and (3) the Adjusted Term SOFR rate for a one-month interest period plus 100 basis
points) and (B) in case of the Revolver, following the amendment to the 2020 Credit Agreement on October 31, 2022 (as discussed below), (x) the Adjusted Term SOFR rate (calculated
with a 10 basis point credit spread adjustment for all interest periods) or (y) a base rate (determined by reference to the highest of (1) the administrative agent’s prime lending rate, (2)
the federal funds effective rate plus 50 basis points and (3) the Adjusted Term SOFR rate for a one-month interest period plus 100 basis points) plus, in each case, (ii) an applicable
margin. The margin applicable to the Term Loan B is between 4.50 % and 4.75 % for Adjusted Term SOFR and between 3.50 % and 3.75 % for base rate, and, in each case, is based
on the Total Net Leverage Ratio. The margin applicable to the Revolver is between 4.25 % and 4.75 % for Adjusted Term SOFR and 3.25 % and 3.75 % for base rate, and, in each
case, is based on the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio. Effective following the amendment to the 2020 Credit Agreement on October 31, 2022, the Company’s original London Interbank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) option in respect of the Revolver was transitioned to Adjusted Term SOFR. Effective May 2, 2023, the 2020 Credit Agreement was further amended to transition
the Company’s original LIBOR option in respect of the Term Loan B to Adjusted Term SOFR. In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the 2020 Credit Agreement, the
Company will pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the Revolver in respect of the unutilized commitments thereunder. The Company will pay customary letter of credit fees. If a
payment or bankruptcy event of default occurs and is continuing, the otherwise applicable margin on overdue amounts will be increased by 2 % per annum. The 2020 Credit Agreement
includes customary provisions for the replacement of Adjusted Term SOFR with an alternative benchmark rate upon Adjusted Term SOFR being discontinued. The weighted-average
annual interest rate on borrowings under the Revolver was 12.0 % during the six months ended June 30, 2024 .

The 2020 Credit Agreement requires, solely with respect to the Revolver, the Company and its restricted subsidiaries to maintain a maximum First Lien Net Leverage Ratio of 3.50 :1.00,
effective the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2022 and increasing to 3.75 :1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2023 and subsequently stepping down to 3.00 :1.00 for the
fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2023, 2.50 :1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2023 and 2.25 :1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2023 and each fiscal quarter
thereafter. The 2020 Credit Agreement also includes certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative covenants and events of default. Subject to certain exceptions,
substantially all of the Company’s existing and future material wholly-owned subsidiaries unconditionally guarantee the obligations of the Company under the 2020 Credit Agreement;
additionally, subject to certain exceptions, the obligations are secured by a lien on substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries guaranteeing these obligations.

As of June 30, 2024, the entire $ 170.0 million was available under the Revolver. The Company was in compliance with the financial covenant under the 2020 Credit Agreement for the
period ended June 30, 2024.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense as reported in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations consisted of the following:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Cash interest expense:

Interest on Term Loan B $ 7,084  $ 9,250  $ 15,572  $ 18,999  

Interest on 2017 Senior Notes 2,960  8,594  11,554  17,188  

Interest on 2024 Senior Notes 8,708  —  8,708  —  

Interest on Revolver 973  2,807  973  4,552  

Other interest 799  364  1,218  785  

Total cash interest expense 20,524  21,015  38,025  41,524  

Non-cash interest expense:

Amortization of discount and debt issuance costs on Term Loan B 473  529  1,791  1,100  

Amortization of debt issuance costs on 2017 Senior Notes 99  277  392  550  

Amortization of debt issuance costs on 2024 Senior Notes 632  —  632  —  

Amortization of debt issuance costs on Revolver 158  195  353  355  

Non-cash portion of loss on extinguishment 1,198  —  1,198  —  

Total non-cash interest expense 2,560  1,001  4,366  2,005  

Total interest expense $ 23,084  $ 22,016  $ 42,391  $ 43,529  

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

(a) The combination of cash and non-cash interest expense produces effective interest rates that are higher than contractual rates. Accordingly, the effective interest rates for the 2024
Senior Notes, 2017 Senior Notes and Term Loan B were 13.56 %, 7.13 % and 12.27 %, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2024.

(10) Leases

The Company leases certain office space, construction and office equipment, vehicles and temporary housing generally under non-cancelable operating leases. Leases with an initial
term of one year or less are not recorded on the balance sheet, and the Company generally recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. As of
June 30, 2024, the Company’s operating leases have remaining lease terms ranging from less than one year to 14 years, some of which include options to renew the leases. The
exercise of lease renewal options is generally at the Company’s sole discretion. The Company’s leases do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive
covenants.

The following table presents components of lease expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Operating lease expense $ 3,202  $ 3,387  $ 6,522  $ 6,861  

Short-term lease expense 13,545  12,692  25,868  26,611  

16,747  16,079  32,390  33,472  

Less: Sublease income 203  198  402  392  

Total lease expense $ 16,544  $ 15,881  $ 31,988  $ 33,080  

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

(a) Short-term lease expense includes all leases with lease terms of up to one year . Short-term leases include, among other things, construction equipment rented on an as-needed
basis as well as temporary housing.

(a)

(a)
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The following table presents supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases:

(dollars in thousands) Balance Sheet Line Item
As of June 30,

2024
As of December 31,

2023

Assets

Right-of-use assets Other assets $ 51,461  $ 48,878  

Total lease assets $ 51,461  $ 48,878  

Liabilities

Current lease liabilities Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 6,817  $ 6,275  

Long-term lease liabilities Other long-term liabilities 50,107  47,781  

Total lease liabilities $ 56,924  $ 54,056  

Weighted-average remaining lease term 9.7 years 10.3 years

Weighted-average discount rate 11.97  % 12.13  %

The following table presents supplemental cash flow information and non-cash activity related to operating leases:

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023

Operating cash flow information:

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities $ ( 6,359 ) $ ( 6,807 )

Non-cash activity:

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities $ 6,147  $ 807  

The following table presents maturities of operating lease liabilities on an undiscounted basis as of June 30, 2024:

Year (in thousands) Operating Leases

2024 (excluding the six months ended June 30, 2024) $ 6,481  

2025 12,044  

2026 10,166  

2027 8,750  

2028 8,671  

Thereafter 52,663  

Total lease payments 98,775  

Less: Imputed interest 41,851  

Total $ 56,924  

(11) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are involved in litigation and other legal proceedings and forms of dispute resolution in the ordinary course of business, including but not
limited to disputes over contract payment and/or performance-related issues (such as disagreements regarding delay or a change in the scope of work of a project and/or the price
associated with that change) and other matters incidental to the Company’s business. In accordance with ASC 606, the Company makes assessments of these types of matters on a
routine basis and, to the extent permitted by ASC 606, estimates and records recovery related to these matters as a form of variable consideration at the most likely amount the
Company expects to receive, as discussed further in Note 4, Contract Assets and Liabilities. In addition, the Company is contingently liable for litigation, performance guarantees and
other commitments arising in the ordinary course of business, which are accounted for in accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies. Management reviews these matters regularly and
updates or revises its estimates as warranted by subsequent information and developments. These assessments require judgments concerning matters that are inherently uncertain,
such as litigation developments and outcomes, the anticipated outcome of negotiations and the estimated
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cost of resolving disputes. Consequently, these assessments are estimates, and actual amounts may vary from such estimates. In addition, because such matters are typically resolved
over long periods of time, the Company’s assets and liabilities may change over time should the circumstances dictate. The description of the legal proceedings listed below include
management’s assessment of those proceedings. Management believes that, based on current information and discussions with the Company’s legal counsel, the ultimate resolution of
other matters is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

A description of the material pending legal proceedings, other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business, is as follows:

Alaskan Way Viaduct Matter

In January 2011, Seattle Tunnel Partners (“STP”), a joint venture between Dragados USA, Inc. and the Company, entered into a design-build contract with the Washington State
Department of Transportation (“WSDOT”) for the construction of a large-diameter bored tunnel in downtown Seattle, King County, Washington to replace the Alaskan Way Viaduct, also
known as State Route 99. The Company has a 45 % interest in STP.

The construction of the large-diameter bored tunnel required the use of a tunnel boring machine (“TBM”). In December 2013, the TBM struck a steel pipe, installed by WSDOT as a well
casing for an exploratory well. The TBM was significantly damaged and was required to be repaired. STP has asserted that the steel pipe casing was a differing site condition that
WSDOT failed to properly disclose. The Disputes Review Board mandated by the contract to hear disputes issued a decision finding the steel casing was a Type I (material) differing site
condition. WSDOT did not accept that finding.

The TBM was insured under a Builder’s Risk Insurance Policy (the “Policy”) with Great Lakes Reinsurance (UK) PLC and a consortium of other insurers (the “Insurers”). STP submitted
the claims to the Insurers and requested interim payments under the Policy. The Insurers refused to pay and denied coverage. In June 2015, STP filed a lawsuit in the King County
Superior Court, State of Washington seeking declaratory relief concerning contract interpretation, as well as damages as a result of the Insurers’ breach of their obligations under the
terms of the Policy. STP is also asserting extra-contractual and statutory claims against the Insurers. STP submitted damages to the Insurers in the King County lawsuit in the amount of
$ 532  million. WSDOT is deemed a plaintiff since WSDOT is an insured under the Policy and had filed its own claim for damages. Hitachi Zosen (“Hitachi”), the manufacturer of the
TBM, joined the case as a plaintiff for costs incurred to repair the damages to the TBM.

In April and September 2018, rulings received on pre-trial motions limited some of the potential recoveries under the Policy for STP, WSDOT and Hitachi. On August 2, 2021, the Court
of Appeals reversed in part certain of those limitations but affirmed other parts of those rulings. On September 15, 2022, the Washington Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the
Court of Appeals, which limits recovery of certain damages under the Policy. Based on the rulings of the Court of Appeals, the case will continue for adjudication on the remaining facts
and legal issues, including the number of covered occurrences which could increase the amount of available coverage under the Policy and the amount of investigative costs that are
subject to the Policy limits. STP also has claims for costs, fees, pre-judgment interest and extra-contractual and statutory claims, which are not subject to the Policy limits. The case has
been scheduled for trial commencing September 23, 2024.

In addition, STP has a pending case in the Washington Superior Court against HNTB Corporation (“HNTB”), its design firm on the project, wherein STP alleges that HNTB is liable for
providing design services that resulted in the TBM striking the steel pipe described above and for additional steel quantity costs associated with the project. STP’s complaint seeks in
excess of $ 640  million. The case is scheduled for trial to commence on April 27, 2025.

With respect to STP’s direct and indirect claims against the Insurers and HNTB, management has included in receivables an estimate of the total anticipated recovery concluded to be
probable.

In March 2016, WSDOT filed a complaint against STP in Thurston County Superior Court alleging breach of contract, seeking $ 57.2  million in delay-related damages and seeking
declaratory relief concerning contract interpretation. STP subsequently filed a counterclaim against WSDOT seeking the same damages in excess of $ 640  million. The jury trial
between STP and WSDOT commenced on October 7, 2019 and concluded on December 13, 2019, with a jury verdict in favor of WSDOT awarding them $ 57.2  million in damages. The
Company recorded the impact of the jury verdict during the fourth quarter of 2019, resulting in a pre-tax charge of $ 166.8  million, which included $ 25.7  million for the Company’s 45 %
proportionate share of the $ 57.2  million in damages awarded by the jury to WSDOT. The charge was for non-cash write-downs primarily related to the costs and
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estimated earnings in excess of billings and receivables that the Company previously recorded to reflect its expected recovery in this case.

STP filed a petition for discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court on July 12, 2022, which was denied by the Supreme Court on October 10, 2022. On October 18, 2022,
STP paid the damages and associated interest from the judgment, which included the Company’s proportionate share of $ 34.6  million. As a result, the lawsuit between STP and
WSDOT has concluded.

(12) Share-Based Compensation

As of June 30, 2024, there were  1,452,390 shares of common stock available for grant under the Tutor Perini Corporation Omnibus Incentive Plan. During the six months ended
June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company granted the following share-based instruments: (1) RSUs totaling 30,000 and 590,188 , respectively, with weighted-average grant date fair values
per unit of $ 12.68 and $ 8.66 , respectively; (2) cash-settled performance stock units (“CPSUs”) totaling 645,180 and 901,541 , respectively, with weighted-average grant date fair
values per unit of $ 19.17 and $ 11.18 , respectively; (3) deferred cash awards (“DCAs”), including cash-settled stock units, with service-based vesting conditions and payouts indexed to
shares of the Company’s common stock totaling 673,855 and 90,000 , respectively, with weighted-average grant date fair values per unit of $ 12.75 and $ 8.98 , respectively; and (4)
shares of unrestricted stock totaling 73,716 and 302,112 , respectively, with weighted-average grant date fair values per unit of $ 20.89 and $ 5.66 , respectively.

As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company recognized liabilities for CPSUs, RSUs with guaranteed minimum payouts and DCAs on the Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets totaling approximately $ 20.7  million and $ 4.9  million, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company paid approximately $ 2.9
 million and $ 0.2  million, respectively, to settle certain awards upon vesting.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company recognized, as part of general and administrative expenses, costs for share-based payment arrangements total  ing $
16.9  million and $ 22.4  million , respectively, and $ 2.6  million and $ 5.6  million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. As of June 30, 2024, the balance of
unamortized share-based compensation expense was $ 56.1  million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.

(13) Employee Pension Plans

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan and an unfunded supplemental retirement plan. Effective June 1, 2004, all benefit accruals under these plans were frozen; however,
the current vested benefit was preserved. The pension disclosure presented below includes aggregated amounts for both of the Company’s plans.

The following table sets forth a summary of the net periodic benefit cost for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Interest cost $ 910  $ 969  $ 1,821  $ 1,938  

Service cost 232  255  463  510  

Expected return on plan assets ( 944 ) ( 979 ) ( 1,888 ) ( 1,957 )

Recognized net actuarial losses 438  413  875  826  

Net periodic benefit cost $ 636  $ 658  $ 1,271  $ 1,317  

The Company contributed $ 1.3  million to its defined benefit pension plan during the six months ended June 30, 2024. The Company expects to contribute an additional $ 1.2  million in
cash by the end of 2024. Due to availability of our prefunded pension balance related to the defined benefit pension plan, the Company was not required to make any cash payments
during the six months ended June 30, 2023.
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(14) Fair Value Measurements

The fair value hierarchy established by ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, prioritizes the use of inputs used in valuation techniques into the following three levels:

• Level 1 inputs are observable quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2 inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly, but are not Level 1 inputs
• Level 3 inputs are unobservable

The following fair value hierarchy table presents the Company’s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

As of June 30, 2024 As of December 31, 2023

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair Value Hierarchy

(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 267,072  $ —  $ —  $ 267,072  $ 380,564  $ —  $ —  $ 380,564  

Restricted cash 12,417  —  —  12,417  14,116  —  —  14,116  

Restricted investments —  134,182  —  134,182  —  130,287  —  130,287  

Investments in lieu of retention 31,590  93,306  —  124,896  19,988  86,961  —  106,949  

Total $ 311,079  $ 227,488  $ —  $ 538,567  $ 414,668  $ 217,248  $ —  $ 631,916  

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

(a) Includes money market funds and short-term investments with maturity dates of three months or less when acquired.
(b) Restricted investments, as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, consist of available-for-sale (“AFS”) debt securities, which are valued based on pricing models determined from

a compilation of primarily observable market information, broker quotes in non-active markets or similar assets; therefore, they are classified as Level 2 assets.
(c) Investments in lieu of retention are included in retention receivable as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, and are composed of money market funds of $ 31.6  million and $

20.0  million, respectively, and AFS debt securities of $ 93.3  million and $ 87.0  million, respectively. The fair values of the money market funds are measured using quoted market
prices; therefore, they are classified as Level 1 assets. The fair values of AFS debt securities are determined from a compilation of primarily observable market information, broker
quotes in non-active markets or similar assets; therefore, they are classified as Level 2 assets.

(a)

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Investments in AFS debt securities consisted of the following as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

As of June 30, 2024 As of December 31, 2023

(in thousands) Amortized Cost Unrealized Gains
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value Amortized Cost Unrealized Gains
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value

Restricted investments:

Corporate debt securities $ 108,764  $ 249  $ ( 2,199 ) $ 106,814  $ 95,903  $ 762  $ ( 2,202 ) $ 94,463  

U.S. government agency securities 20,832  4  ( 972 ) 19,864  29,082  18  ( 1,054 ) 28,046  

Municipal bonds 7,946  1  ( 908 ) 7,039  8,227  5  ( 914 ) 7,318  

Corporate certificates of deposit 493  —  ( 28 ) 465  498  —  ( 38 ) 460  

Total restricted investments 138,035  254  ( 4,107 ) 134,182  133,710  785  ( 4,208 ) 130,287  

Investments in lieu of retention:

Corporate debt securities 93,661  38  ( 1,425 ) 92,274  87,601  246  ( 1,950 ) 85,897  

Municipal bonds 826  206  —  1,032  823  241  —  1,064  

Total investments in lieu of retention 94,487  244  ( 1,425 ) 93,306  88,424  487  ( 1,950 ) 86,961  

Total AFS debt securities $ 232,522  $ 498  $ ( 5,532 ) $ 227,488  $ 222,134  $ 1,272  $ ( 6,158 ) $ 217,248  
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The following table summarizes the fair value and gross unrealized losses aggregated by category and the length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized
loss position as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

As of June 30, 2024

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total

(in thousands) Fair Value Unrealized Losses Fair Value Unrealized Losses Fair Value Unrealized Losses

Restricted investments:

Corporate debt securities $ 35,500  $ ( 258 ) $ 35,457  $ ( 1,941 ) $ 70,957  $ ( 2,199 )

U.S. government agency securities 3,406  ( 34 ) 14,902  ( 938 ) 18,308  ( 972 )

Municipal bonds 176  ( 1 ) 6,798  ( 907 ) 6,974  ( 908 )

Corporate certificates of deposit —  —  464  ( 28 ) 464  ( 28 )

Total restricted investments 39,082  ( 293 ) 57,621  ( 3,814 ) 96,703  ( 4,107 )

Investments in lieu of retention:

Corporate debt securities 31,399  ( 155 ) 51,020  ( 1,270 ) 82,419  ( 1,425 )

Total investments in lieu of retention 31,399  ( 155 ) 51,020  ( 1,270 ) 82,419  ( 1,425 )

Total AFS debt securities $ 70,481  $ ( 448 ) $ 108,641  $ ( 5,084 ) $ 179,122  $ ( 5,532 )

As of December 31, 2023

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total

(in thousands) Fair Value Unrealized Losses Fair Value Unrealized Losses Fair Value Unrealized Losses

Restricted investments:

Corporate debt securities $ 4,971  $ ( 3 ) $ 40,649  $ ( 2,199 ) $ 45,620  $ ( 2,202 )

U.S. government agency securities 1,280  ( 4 ) 22,858  ( 1,050 ) 24,138  ( 1,054 )

Municipal bonds 99  ( 2 ) 7,038  ( 912 ) 7,137  ( 914 )

Corporate certificates of deposit —  —  460  ( 38 ) 460  ( 38 )

Total restricted investments 6,350  ( 9 ) 71,005  ( 4,199 ) 77,355  ( 4,208 )

Investments in lieu of retention:

Corporate debt securities 11,398  ( 55 ) 49,726  ( 1,895 ) 61,124  ( 1,950 )

Total investments in lieu of retention 11,398  ( 55 ) 49,726  ( 1,895 ) 61,124  ( 1,950 )

Total AFS debt securities $ 17,748  $ ( 64 ) $ 120,731  $ ( 6,094 ) $ 138,479  $ ( 6,158 )

The unrealized losses in AFS debt securities as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are primarily attributable to market interest rate increases and not a deterioration in credit
quality of the issuers. Management evaluated the unrealized losses in AFS debt securities considering factors including credit ratings and other relevant information, which may indicate
that contractual cash flows are not expected to occur. Based on the analysis, management determined that credit losses did not exist for AFS debt securities in an unrealized loss
position as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

It is not considered likely that the Company will be required to sell the investments before full recovery of the amortized cost basis of the AFS debt securities, which may be at maturity.
As a result, consistent with the same period in 2023, the Company has not recognized any impairment losses in earnings during the six months ended June 30, 2024.
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The amortized cost and fair value of AFS debt securities by contractual maturity as of June 30, 2024 are summarized in the table below. Actual maturities may differ from contractual
maturities because certain borrowers have the right to call or prepay certain obligations.

(in thousands) Amortized Cost Fair Value

Due within one year $ 74,786  $ 73,104  

Due after one year through five years 147,533  145,223  

Due after five years 10,203  9,161  

Total $ 232,522  $ 227,488  

The carrying values of receivables, payables and other amounts arising out of normal contract activities, including retention, which may be settled beyond one year, are estimated to
approximate fair value. Of the Company’s long-term debt, the fair value of the 2024 Senior Notes was $ 430.1 million as of June 30, 2024 and the fair value of the 2017 Senior Notes
was $ 490.9  million as of December 31, 2023. The fair values of the 2024 Senior Notes and 2017 Senior Notes were determined using Level 1 inputs, specifically current observable
market prices. The fair value of the Term Loan B was $ 274.0 million and $ 358.9 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The fair values of the Term Loan B
were determined using Level 2 inputs, specifically third-party quoted market prices. The reported value of the Company’s remaining borrowings approximates fair value as of June 30,
2024 and December 31, 2023.

(15) Variable Interest Entities (VIEs)

The Company may form joint ventures or partnerships with third parties for the execution of projects. In accordance with ASC 810, Consolidation (“ASC 810”), the Company assesses its
partnerships and joint ventures at inception to determine if any meet the qualifications of a VIE. The Company considers a joint venture a VIE if either (a) the total equity investment is not
sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, (b) characteristics of a controlling financial interest are missing (either the ability to
make decisions through voting or other rights, the obligation to absorb the expected losses of the entity or the right to receive the expected residual returns of the entity), or (c) the voting
rights of the equity holders are not proportional to their obligations to absorb the expected losses of the entity and/or their rights to receive the expected residual returns of the entity, and
substantially all of the entity’s activities either involve or are conducted on behalf of an investor that has disproportionately few voting rights. Upon the occurrence of certain events
outlined in ASC 810, the Company reassesses its initial determination of whether a joint venture is a VIE.

ASC 810 also requires the Company to determine whether it is the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The Company concludes that it is the primary beneficiary and consolidates the VIE if
the Company has both (a) the power to direct the economically significant activities of the VIE and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of, or the right to receive benefits from, the VIE that
could potentially be significant to the VIE. The Company considers the contractual agreements that define the ownership structure, distribution of profits and losses, risks, responsibilities,
indebtedness, voting rights and board representation of the respective parties in determining if the Company is the primary beneficiary. The Company also considers all parties that have
direct or implicit variable interests when determining whether it is the primary beneficiary. In accordance with ASC 810, management’s assessment of whether the Company is the
primary beneficiary of a VIE is performed continuously.

As of June 30, 2024, the Company had unconsolidated VIE-related current assets and liabilities of $ 0.5  million and $ 0.1  million, respectively, included in the Company’s Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had unconsolidated VIE-related current assets and liabilities of $ 0.5  million and $ 0.1  million, respectively,
included in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its investments in unconsolidated VIEs is typically limited
to the aggregate of the carrying value of the investment and future funding commitments. The Company had future funding requirements of $ 3.0  million related to unconsolidated VIEs
as of June 30, 2024.

As of June 30, 2024, the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets included current and noncurrent assets of $ 481.2  million and $ 29.4  million, respectively, as well as
current liabilities of $ 452.9  million related to the operations of its consolidated VIEs. As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets included
current and noncurrent assets of $ 503.1  million and $ 35.1  million, respectively, as well as current liabilities of $ 505.0  million related to the operations of its consolidated VIEs.
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Below is a discussion of some of the Company’s more significant or unique VIEs.

The Company established a joint venture to construct the Purple Line Extension Section 2 (Tunnels and Stations) and Section 3 (Stations) mass-transit projects in Los Angeles,
California with an original combined value of approximately $ 2.8 billion. The Company has a 75 % interest in the joint venture with the remaining 25 % held by O&G Industries, Inc. The
joint venture was initially financed with contributions from the partners and, per the terms of the joint venture agreement, the partners may be required to provide additional capital
contributions in the future. The Company has determined that this joint venture is a VIE for which the Company is the primary beneficiary.

The Company also established a joint venture with Parsons Corporation (“Parsons”) to construct the Newark Liberty International Airport Terminal One project, a transportation
infrastructure project in Newark, New Jersey with an original value of approximately $ 1.4 billion. The Company has an 80 % interest in the joint venture with the remaining 20 % held by
Parsons. The joint venture was initially financed with contributions from the partners and, per the terms of the joint venture agreement, the partners may be required to provide additional
capital contributions in the future. The Company has determined that this joint venture is a VIE for which the Company is the primary beneficiary.

(16) Changes in Equity

A reconciliation of the changes in equity for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 is provided below:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024

(in thousands)

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Equity

Balance - March 31, 2024 $ 52,284  $ 1,146,008  $ 148,906  $ ( 40,162 ) $ ( 3,802 ) $ 1,303,234  

Net income — — 812  — 15,157  15,969  

Other comprehensive loss — — — ( 64 ) ( 193 ) ( 257 )

Share-based compensation — 2,852  — — — 2,852  

Issuance of common stock, net 105  ( 786 ) — — — ( 681 )

Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — ( 5,000 ) ( 5,000 )

Balance - June 30, 2024 $ 52,389  $ 1,148,074  $ 149,718  $ ( 40,226 ) $ 6,162  $ 1,316,117  

Six Months Ended June 30, 2024

(in thousands)

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Equity

Balance - December 31, 2023 $ 52,025  $ 1,146,204  $ 133,146  $ ( 39,787 ) $ ( 7,677 ) $ 1,283,911  

Net income — — 16,572  — 26,899  43,471  

Other comprehensive loss — — — ( 439 ) ( 660 ) ( 1,099 )

Share-based compensation — 4,355  — — — 4,355  

Issuance of common stock, net 364  ( 2,485 ) — — — ( 2,121 )

Contributions from noncontrolling interests — — — — — —  

Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — ( 12,400 ) ( 12,400 )

Balance - June 30, 2024 $ 52,389  $ 1,148,074  $ 149,718  $ ( 40,226 ) $ 6,162  $ 1,316,117  
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2023

(in thousands)

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Equity

Balance - March 31, 2023 $ 51,645  $ 1,142,081  $ 255,105  $ ( 45,310 ) $ ( 13,814 ) $ 1,389,707  

Net income (loss) — — ( 37,534 ) — 20,770  ( 16,764 )

Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — ( 169 ) 401  232  

Share-based compensation — 1,635  — — — 1,635  

Issuance of common stock, net 325  ( 184 ) — — — 141  

Contributions from noncontrolling interests — — — — — —  

Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — ( 6,750 ) ( 6,750 )

Balance - June 30, 2023 $ 51,970  $ 1,143,532  $ 217,571  $ ( 45,479 ) $ 607  $ 1,368,201  

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

(in thousands)

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Equity

Balance - December 31, 2022 $ 51,521  $ 1,140,933  $ 304,301  $ ( 47,037 ) $ ( 7,734 ) $ 1,441,984  

Net income (loss) — — ( 86,730 ) — 21,037  ( 65,693 )

Other comprehensive income — — — 1,558  554  2,112  

Share-based compensation — 3,030  — — — 3,030  

Issuance of common stock, net 449  ( 431 ) — — — 18  

Contributions from noncontrolling interests — — — — 2,000  2,000  

Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — ( 15,250 ) ( 15,250 )

Balance - June 30, 2023 $ 51,970  $ 1,143,532  $ 217,571  $ ( 45,479 ) $ 607  $ 1,368,201  

(17) Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

ASC 220, Comprehensive Income, establishes standards for reporting comprehensive income and its components in the consolidated financial statements. The Company reports the
change in pension benefit plan assets/liabilities, cumulative foreign currency translation and the unrealized gain (loss) of investments as components of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”).
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The components of other comprehensive income (loss) and the related tax effects for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024 Three Months Ended June 30, 2023

(in thousands)

Before-Tax
Amount

Tax (Expense)
Benefit Net-of-Tax Amount

Before-Tax
Amount

Tax (Expense)
Benefit

Net-of-Tax
Amount

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Defined benefit pension plan adjustments $ 438  $ ( 117 ) $ 321  $ 411  $ ( 115 ) $ 296  

Foreign currency translation adjustments ( 869 ) 166  ( 703 ) 562  ( 34 ) 528  

Unrealized gain (loss) in fair value of investments 153  ( 28 ) 125  ( 751 ) 159  ( 592 )

Total other comprehensive income (loss) ( 278 ) 21  ( 257 ) 222  10  232  

Less: Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling
interests ( 193 ) —  ( 193 ) 401  —  401  

Total other comprehensive loss attributable to Tutor Perini Corporation $ ( 85 ) $ 21  $ ( 64 ) $ ( 179 ) $ 10  $ ( 169 )

Six Months Ended June 30, 2024 Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

(in thousands)

Before-Tax
Amount

Tax (Expense)
Benefit

Net-of-Tax
Amount

Before-Tax
Amount Tax Expense Net-of-Tax Amount

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Defined benefit pension plan adjustments $ 875  $ ( 233 ) $ 642  $ 826  $ ( 229 ) $ 597  

Foreign currency translation adjustments ( 1,951 ) 321  ( 1,630 ) 902  ( 124 ) 778  

Unrealized gain (loss) in fair value of investments ( 148 ) 37  ( 111 ) 934  ( 197 ) 737  

Total other comprehensive income (loss) ( 1,224 ) 125  ( 1,099 ) 2,662  ( 550 ) 2,112  

Less: Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling
interests ( 660 ) —  ( 660 ) 554  —  554  

Total other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Tutor Perini
Corporation $ ( 564 ) $ 125  $ ( 439 ) $ 2,108  $ ( 550 ) $ 1,558  

The changes in AOCI balances by component (after tax) attributable to Tutor Perini Corporation and attributable to noncontrolling interests during the three and six months ended
June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024

(in thousands)

Defined
Benefit
Pension

Plan

Foreign
Currency

Translation

Unrealized Gain (Loss)
in Fair

Value of Investments,
Net

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Attributable to Tutor Perini Corporation:

Balance as of March 31, 2024 $ ( 29,033 ) $ ( 7,321 ) $ ( 3,808 ) $ ( 40,162 )

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications —  ( 463 ) 108  ( 355 )

Amounts reclassified from AOCI 321  —  ( 30 ) 291  

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 321  ( 463 ) 78  ( 64 )

Balance as of June 30, 2024 $ ( 28,712 ) $ ( 7,784 ) $ ( 3,730 ) $ ( 40,226 )

Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests:

Balance as of March 31, 2024 $ —  $ ( 811 ) $ ( 387 ) $ ( 1,198 )

Other comprehensive income (loss) —  ( 240 ) 47  ( 193 )

Balance as of June 30, 2024 $ —  $ ( 1,051 ) $ ( 340 ) $ ( 1,391 )
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2024

(in thousands)

Defined
Benefit
Pension

Plan

Foreign
Currency

Translation

Unrealized Gain (Loss)
in Fair

Value of Investments,
Net

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Attributable to Tutor Perini Corporation:

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ ( 29,354 ) $ ( 6,893 ) $ ( 3,540 ) $ ( 39,787 )

Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications —  ( 891 ) ( 205 ) ( 1,096 )

Amounts reclassified from AOCI 642  —  15  657  

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 642  ( 891 ) ( 190 ) ( 439 )

Balance as of June 30, 2024 $ ( 28,712 ) $ ( 7,784 ) $ ( 3,730 ) $ ( 40,226 )

Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests:

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ —  $ ( 312 ) $ ( 419 ) $ ( 731 )

Other comprehensive income (loss) —  ( 739 ) 79  ( 660 )

Balance as of June 30, 2024 $ —  $ ( 1,051 ) $ ( 340 ) $ ( 1,391 )

Three Months Ended June 30, 2023

(in thousands)

Defined
Benefit
Pension

Plan

Foreign
Currency

Translation

Unrealized Gain (Loss)
in Fair

Value of Investments,
Net

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Attributable to Tutor Perini Corporation:

Balance as of March 31, 2023 $ ( 32,336 ) $ ( 7,010 ) $ ( 5,964 ) $ ( 45,310 )

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications —  90  ( 598 ) ( 508 )

Amounts reclassified from AOCI 296  —  43  339  

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 296  90  ( 555 ) ( 169 )

Balance as of June 30, 2023 $ ( 32,040 ) $ ( 6,920 ) $ ( 6,519 ) $ ( 45,479 )

Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests:

Balance as of March 31, 2023 $ —  $ ( 780 ) $ ( 797 ) $ ( 1,577 )

Other comprehensive income (loss) —  438  ( 37 ) 401  

Balance as of June 30, 2023 $ —  $ ( 342 ) $ ( 834 ) $ ( 1,176 )
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

(in thousands)

Defined
Benefit
Pension

Plan

Foreign
Currency

Translation

Unrealized Gain (Loss)
in Fair

Value of Investments,
Net

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Attributable to Tutor Perini Corporation:

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ ( 32,637 ) $ ( 7,241 ) $ ( 7,159 ) $ ( 47,037 )

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications —  321  573  894  

Amounts reclassified from AOCI 597  —  67  664  

Total other comprehensive income 597  321  640  1,558  

Balance as of June 30, 2023 $ ( 32,040 ) $ ( 6,920 ) $ ( 6,519 ) $ ( 45,479 )

Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests:

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ —  $ ( 799 ) $ ( 931 ) $ ( 1,730 )

Other comprehensive income —  457  97  554  

Balance as of June 30, 2023 $ —  $ ( 342 ) $ ( 834 ) $ ( 1,176 )

The significant items reclassified out of AOCI and the corresponding location and impact on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations during the three and six months
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Component of AOCI:

Defined benefit pension plan adjustments $ 438  $ 411  $ 875  $ 826  

Income tax benefit ( 117 ) ( 115 ) ( 233 ) ( 229 )

Net of tax $ 321  $ 296  $ 642  $ 597  

Unrealized (gain) loss in fair value of investment adjustments $ ( 38 ) $ 55  $ 19  $ 85  

Income tax expense (benefit) 8  ( 12 ) ( 4 ) ( 18 )

Net of tax $ ( 30 ) $ 43  $ 15  $ 67  

___________________________________________________________________________________________________

(a) Amounts included in other income, net on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.
(b) Amounts included in income tax (expense) benefit on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(18) Business Segments

The Company offers general contracting, pre-construction planning and comprehensive project management services, including planning and scheduling of manpower, equipment,
materials and subcontractors required for the timely completion of a project in accordance with the terms and specifications contained in a construction contract. The Company also
offers self-performed construction services: site work, concrete forming and placement, steel erection, electrical, mechanical, plumbing, and HVAC (heating, ventilation and air
conditioning). As described below, the Company’s business is conducted through three segments: Civil, Building and Specialty Contractors. These segments are determined based on
how the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (chief operating decision maker) aggregates business units when evaluating performance and allocating resources.

The Civil segment specializes in public works construction and the replacement and reconstruction of infrastructure. The contracting services provided by the Civil segment include
construction and rehabilitation of highways, bridges, tunnels, mass-transit systems, military facilities, and water management and wastewater treatment facilities.

The Building segment has significant experience providing services for private and public works customers in a number of specialized building markets, including: hospitality and gaming,
transportation, healthcare, commercial offices, government facilities, sports and entertainment, education, correctional and detention facilities, biotech, pharmaceutical, industrial and
technology.

(a)

(b)

(a)

(b)
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The Specialty Contractors segment specializes in electrical, mechanical, plumbing, HVAC and fire protection systems for a full range of civil and building construction projects in the
industrial, commercial, hospitality and gaming, and mass-transit end markets. This segment provides the Company with unique strengths and capabilities that allow the Company to
position itself as a full-service contractor with greater control over scheduled work, project delivery, and cost and risk management.

To the extent that a contract is co-managed and co-executed among segments, the Company allocates the share of revenues and costs of the contract to each segment to reflect the
shared responsibilities in the management and execution of the project.

The following tables set forth certain reportable segment information relating to the Company’s operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Reportable Segments

(in thousands) Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total Corporate
Consolidated

Total

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024

Total revenue $ 577,519  $ 433,797  $ 163,066  $ 1,174,382  $ — $ 1,174,382  

Elimination of intersegment revenue ( 31,031 ) ( 15,931 ) 50  ( 46,912 ) — ( 46,912 )

Revenue from external customers $ 546,488  $ 417,866  $ 163,116  $ 1,127,470  $ —  $ 1,127,470  

Income (loss) from construction operations $ 75,587  $ 5,047  $ ( 7,846 ) $ 72,788  $ ( 32,295 ) $ 40,493  

Capital expenditures $ 9,479  $ 68  $ ( 30 ) $ 9,517  $ 1,401  $ 10,918  

Depreciation and amortization $ 10,727  $ 585  $ 574  $ 11,886  $ 2,120  $ 14,006  

Three Months Ended June 30, 2023

Total revenue $ 555,553  $ 321,933  $ 136,323  $ 1,013,809  $ — $ 1,013,809  

Elimination of intersegment revenue ( 1,430 ) 9,409  ( 37 ) 7,942  — 7,942  

Revenue from external customers $ 554,123  $ 331,342  $ 136,286  $ 1,021,751  $ —  $ 1,021,751  

Income (loss) from construction operations $ 105,407  $ ( 13,831 ) $ ( 69,832 ) $ 21,744  $ ( 19,356 ) $ 2,388  

Capital expenditures $ 9,643  $ 1,458  $ 256  $ 11,357  $ 1,470  $ 12,827  

Depreciation and amortization $ 7,074  $ 455  $ 622  $ 8,151  $ 2,195  $ 10,346  

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

(a) During the three months ended June 30, 2024, the Company’s income (loss) from construction operations was impacted by an unfavorable adjustment of $ 12.4  million ($ 9.1
 million, or $ 0.17 per diluted share, after tax) due to the impact of a settlement on two completed Civil segment highway projects in the Northeast.

(b) Consists primarily of corporate general and administrative expenses. Corporate general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 included
share-based compensation expense of $ 16.9  million ($ 12.4  million, or $ 0.23 per diluted share, after tax) and $ 2.6  million ($ 1.9  million, or $ 0.04 per diluted share, after tax),
respectively. The increase in share-based compensation expense in the second quarter of 2024 was primarily due to a substantial increase in the Company’s stock price during the
period, which impacted the fair value of liability-classified awards. These awards are remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with the change in fair value
recognized in earnings.

(c) Depreciation and amortization is included in income (loss) from construction operations.
(d) During the three months ended June 30, 2023, the Company’s income (loss) from construction operations was impacted by favorable adjustments totaling $ 58.1  million ($ 46.1

 million, or $ 0.89 per diluted share, after tax) resulting from changes in estimates due to improved performance on a Civil segment mass-transit project in California; $ 35.8  million
($ 26.0  million, or $ 0.50 per diluted share, after tax) of unfavorable non-cash adjustments due to changes in estimates on the Specialty Contractors segment’s electrical and
mechanical scope of a transportation project in the Northeast associated with a change in the expected recovery on certain unapproved change orders; a non-cash charge of $ 24.7
 million ($ 18.0  million, or $ 0.35 per diluted share, after tax) that resulted from an adverse legal ruling on a Specialty Contractors segment educational facilities project in New York;
and a $ 13.1  million ($ 10.2  million, or $ 0.20 per diluted share, after tax) unfavorable adjustment on a transportation project in the Northeast, split evenly between the Civil and
Building segments, due to the settlement of certain change orders during project closeout.

(a) (b)

(c)

(d) (b)

(c)
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Reportable Segments

(in thousands) Civil Building
Specialty

Contractors Total Corporate
Consolidated

Total

Six Months Ended June 30, 2024

Total revenue $ 1,080,341  $ 855,973  $ 327,946  $ 2,264,260  $ — $ 2,264,260  

Elimination of intersegment revenue ( 61,688 ) ( 26,165 ) 50  ( 87,803 ) — ( 87,803 )

Revenue from external customers $ 1,018,653  $ 829,808  $ 327,996  $ 2,176,457  $ —  $ 2,176,457  

Income (loss) from construction operations $ 146,330  $ 21,167  $ ( 26,158 ) $ 141,339  $ ( 52,040 ) $ 89,299  

Capital expenditures $ 17,610  $ 285  $ 273  $ 18,168  $ 3,184  $ 21,352  

Depreciation and amortization $ 20,981  $ 1,170  $ 1,172  $ 23,323  $ 4,265  $ 27,588  

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Total revenue $ 933,777  $ 551,224  $ 333,071  $ 1,818,072  $ — $ 1,818,072  

Elimination of intersegment revenue ( 29,784 ) 9,771  ( 8 ) ( 20,021 ) — ( 20,021 )

Revenue from external customers $ 903,993  $ 560,995  $ 333,063  $ 1,798,051  $ —  $ 1,798,051  

Income (loss) from construction operations $ 123,419  $ ( 84,040 ) $ ( 82,280 ) $ ( 42,901 ) $ ( 36,656 ) $ ( 79,557 )

Capital expenditures $ 24,708  $ 3,475  $ 700  $ 28,883  $ 1,740  $ 30,623  

Depreciation and amortization $ 14,055  $ 912  $ 1,241  $ 16,208  $ 4,546  $ 20,754  

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

(a) During the six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company’s income (loss) from construction operations was impacted by unfavorable adjustments of $ 12.4  million ($ 9.1  million, or
$ 0.17 per diluted share, after tax) due to the impact of a settlement on two completed Civil segment highway projects in the Northeast and $ 12.0  million ($ 8.8  million, or $ 0.17
per diluted share, after tax) due to an arbitration ruling that only provided a partial award to the Company pertaining to a completed Specialty Contractors segment electrical project
in New York. The period was also impacted by a favorable adjustment of $ 10.2  million ($ 7.5  million, or $ 0.14 per diluted share, after tax) on a Civil segment mass-transit project
in California related to a dispute resolution and associated expected cost savings.

(b) Consists primarily of corporate general and administrative expenses. Corporate general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 included
share-based compensation expense of $ 22.4  million ($ 16.5  million, or $ 0.31 per diluted share, after tax) and $ 5.6  million ($ 4.1  million, or $ 0.08 per diluted share, after tax),
respectively. The increase in share-based compensation expense in the current-year period was primarily due to a substantial increase in the Company’s stock price during the
period, which impacted the fair value of liability-classified awards. These awards are remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with the change in fair value
recognized in earnings.

(c) Depreciation and amortization is included in income (loss) from construction operations.
(d) During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company’s income (loss) from construction operations was impacted by an adverse legal ruling on a completed mixed-use project

in New York, which resulted in a non-cash, pre-tax charge of $ 83.6  million ($ 60.1  million, or $ 1.16 per diluted share, after tax), of which $ 72.2  million impacted the Building
segment and $ 11.4  million impacted the Specialty Contractors segment; $ 35.8  million ($ 26.0  million, or $ 0.50 per diluted share, after tax) of unfavorable non-cash adjustments
due to changes in estimates on the Specialty Contractors segment’s electrical and mechanical scope of a transportation project in the Northeast associated with a change in the
expected recovery on certain unapproved change orders; net favorable adjustments of $ 30.1  million ($ 23.9  million, or $ 0.46 per diluted share, after tax) for a Civil segment mass-
transit project in California that resulted from changes in estimates due to improved performance; a non-cash charge of $ 24.7  million ($ 18.0  million, or $ 0.35 per diluted share,
after tax) that resulted from an adverse legal ruling on a Specialty Contractors segment educational facilities project in New York; and a $ 13.1  million ($ 10.2  million, or $ 0.20 per
diluted share, after tax) unfavorable adjustment on a transportation project in the Northeast, split evenly between the Civil and Building segments, due to the settlement of certain
change orders during project closeout.

(a) (b)

(c)

(d) (b)

(c)
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A reconciliation of segment results to the consolidated  income (loss) before income taxes is as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Income (loss) from construction operations $ 40,493  $ 2,388  $ 89,299  $ ( 79,557 )

Other income, net 5,838  3,058  11,149  9,475  

Interest expense ( 23,084 ) ( 22,016 ) ( 42,391 ) ( 43,529 )

Income (loss) before income taxes $ 23,247  $ ( 16,570 ) $ 58,057  $ ( 113,611 )

Total assets by segment were as follows:

(in thousands)

As of June 30,
2024

As of December 31,
2023

Civil $ 3,520,109  $ 3,539,608  

Building 1,028,958  898,902  

Specialty Contractors 246,128  307,171  

Corporate and other ( 501,447 ) ( 315,825 )

Total assets $ 4,293,748  $ 4,429,856  

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

(a) Consists principally of cash, equipment, tax-related assets and insurance-related assets, offset by the elimination of assets related to intersegment revenue.

Major Customer

Revenue from a single customer with multiple projects, impacting the Civil, Building and Specialty Contractors segments, represent  ed 19.0 % and 18.9 % o f the Company’s
consolidated revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively. Revenue from the same customer with multiple projects, impacting the Civil, Building and
Specialty Contractors segments, represented 15.8 % and 17.4 % o f the Company’s consolidated revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively .

(a)
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial position as of June 30, 2024 and the results of our operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 should be read in
conjunction with other information, including the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and notes included in Part I, Item 1, Financial Information, of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10‑Q, the audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes to our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the
information contained under the heading “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the year ended December 31, 2023 and in Part II, Item 1A below.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” contains forward-looking statements
regarding future events and our future results, which are intended to be covered by the safe harbor provision for forward-looking statements provided by the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical facts are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements. Words such as “achieve,” “anticipate,”
“assumes,” “believes,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expects,” “forecast,” “hope,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “should,” “will,” “would,” variations of such words and
similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. In addition, any statement that refers to projections of our future financial performance, our anticipated
growth and trends in our businesses, and other characterizations of future events, outcomes or circumstances, or the timing of those events, outcomes or circumstances are forward-
looking statements. Although such statements are based on currently available financial and economic data, as well as management’s estimates and expectations, forward-looking
statements are inherently uncertain and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from what may be inferred from the forward-looking
statements. Therefore, actual results may differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. Factors potentially contributing to such differences
include, among others:

• Unfavorable outcomes of existing or future litigation or dispute resolution proceedings against us or customers (project owners, developers, general contractors, etc.),
subcontractors or suppliers, as well as failure to promptly recover significant working capital invested in projects subject to such matters;

• Revisions of estimates of contract risks, revenue or costs; economic factors such as inflation; the timing of new awards; or the pace of project execution, which has resulted and
may continue to result in losses or lower than anticipated profit;

• Contract requirements to perform extra work beyond the initial project scope, which has and in the future could result in disputes or claims and adversely affect our working
capital, profits and cash flows;

• Risks and other uncertainties associated with estimates and assumptions used to prepare our financial statements;
• Failure to meet contractual schedule requirements, which could result in higher costs and reduced profits or, in some cases, exposure to financial liability for liquidated damages

and/or damages to customers, as well as damage to our reputation;
• Inability to attract and retain our key officers, and to adequately plan for their succession, and hire and retain personnel required to execute and perform on our contracts;
• Possible systems and information technology interruptions and breaches in data security and/or privacy;
• An inability to obtain bonding could have a negative impact on our operations and results;
• The impact of inclement weather conditions and other events outside of our control on projects;
• Risks related to our international operations, such as uncertainty of U.S. government funding, as well as economic, political, regulatory and other risks, including risks of loss due

to acts of war, labor conditions and other unforeseeable events in countries where we do business, which could adversely affect our revenue and earnings;
• Increased competition and failure to secure new contracts;
• A significant slowdown or decline in economic conditions, such as those presented during a recession;
• Decreases in the level of government spending for infrastructure and other public projects;
• Client cancellations of, or reductions in scope under, contracts reported in our backlog;
• Risks related to government contracts and related procurement regulations;
• Failure of our joint venture partners to perform their venture obligations, which could impose additional financial and performance obligations on us, resulting in reduced profits or

losses and/or reputational harm;
• Significant fluctuations in the market price of our common stock, which could result in substantial losses for stockholders and potentially subject us to securities litigation;
• Failure to meet our obligations under our debt agreements (especially in a high interest rate environment);
• Downgrades in our credit ratings;
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• Violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws;
• Public health crises, such as COVID-19, have adversely impacted, and could in the future adversely impact, our business, financial condition and results of operations by, among

other things, delaying the timing of project bids and/or awards and the timing of dispute resolutions and associated collections;
• Physical and regulatory risks related to climate change;
• Impairment of our goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangible assets; and
• The exertion of influence over the Company by our chairman and chief executive officer due to his position and significant ownership interest.

Executive Overview

Operating Results

Consolidated revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was $1.1 billion and $2.2 billion, respectively, compared to $1.0 billion and $1.8 billion for the same periods in
2023. The growth for both periods was primarily driven by increased project execution activities on certain Building segment projects, including various healthcare and educational facility
projects in California and a detention facility project in New York. The growth for both periods was also due to increased project execution activities on various Civil segment projects,
including certain mass-transit projects in California, two airport projects in the Northern Mariana Islands and the tunneling component of an energy project in British Columbia, as well as
the absence of certain prior-year net unfavorable adjustments, as discussed in more detail below in Results of Segment Operations. The growth for both periods was partially offset by
reduced project execution activities on a completed transportation project in the Northeast.

Income from construction operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was $40.5 million and $89.3 million, respectively, compared to income from construction
operations of $2.4 million and loss from construction operations of $79.6 million for the same periods in 2023. For the second quarter of 2024, the increase was principally due to
contributions related to the increased project execution activities discussed above and the absence of certain prior-year net unfavorable adjustments, as discussed further below in
Results of Segment Operations . The increase was partially offset by an unfavorable adjustment in the second quarter of 2024 of $12.4 million due to the impact of a settlement on two
completed Civil segment highway projects in the Northeast. For the first six months of 2024, the improvement was due to the same factors mentioned above for the second quarter, as
well as a favorable adjustment in the first quarter of 2024 of $10.2 million on a Civil segment mass-transit project in California related to a dispute resolution and associated expected cost
savings, partially offset by an unfavorable adjustment of $12.0 million due to an arbitration ruling that only provided a partial award to the Company pertaining to a completed Specialty
Contractors segment electrical project in New York. Furthermore, income from construction operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was negatively impacted by an
increase in share-based compensation expense of $14.3 million and $16.8 million, respectively, as compared to the same periods in 2023. The increase in share-based compensation
expense in both 2024 periods was primarily due to a substantial increase in the Company’s stock price during the first and second quarters of 2024, which impacted the fair value of
liability-classified awards. These awards are remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with the change in fair value recognized in earnings.

Income tax expense was $7.3 million and $14.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, compared to income tax expense of $0.2 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2023, and an income tax benefit of $47.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. See Corporate, Tax and Other Matters  below for a discussion of the
changes in the effective tax rate.

Diluted earnings per common share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was $0.02 and $0.31, respectively, compared to diluted loss per common share of $0.72 and
$1.68, respectively, for the same periods in 2023. The improvement for both periods in 2024 was primarily due to the factors discussed above that resulted in the positive change in
income (loss) from construction operations for such periods.

Consolidated new awards for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 totaled $1.6 billion and $2.4 billion, respectively, compared to $4.0 billion and $4.7 billion for the same
periods in 2023. The 2023 periods included the award of the $2.95 billion Brooklyn Jail project in New York. The Civil and Building segments were the primary contributors to the new
awards activity in the second quarter of 2024. The most significant new awards and contract adjustments in the second quarter of 2024 included the Company’s proportionate share of its
contract value for a $1.3 billion bridge replacement project in Connecticut; a $216 million airport terminal connectors project at Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport in Florida;
$144 million of additional funding for certain mass-transit projects in California; a $136 million highway and bridge project in the Midwest; a $127 million electrical project in New York; a
$74 million military facilities project in Guam; and $71 million of additional funding for various healthcare projects in California.
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Consolidated backlog as of June 30, 2024 was $10.4 billion, up slightly compared to $10.2 billion as of December 31, 2023. As of June 30, 2024, the mix of backlog by segment was
approximately 42% for Civil, 40% for Building and 18% for Specialty Contractors.

The following table presents the Company’s backlog by business segment, reflecting changes from December 31, 2023 to June 30, 2024:

(in millions)

Backlog at
December 31, 2023

New
 Awards

Revenue
 Recognized

Backlog at
June 30, 2024

Civil $ 4,240.6 $ 1,142.7 $ (1,018.7) $ 4,364.6 

Building 4,177.5 841.0 (829.8) 4,188.7 

Specialty Contractors 1,740.3 453.3 (328.0) 1,865.6 

Total $ 10,158.4 $ 2,437.0 $ (2,176.5) $ 10,418.9 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

(a) New awards consist of the original contract price of projects added to backlog plus or minus subsequent changes to the estimated total contract price of existing contracts.
(b) Backlog may differ from the transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations as disclosed in Note 3 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial

Statements. Such differences relate to the timing of executing a formal contract or receiving a notice to proceed. More specifically, backlog may include awards for which a contract
has not yet been executed or a notice to proceed has not yet been issued, but for which there are no remaining major uncertainties that we will proceed with our work on the project
(e.g., adequate funding is in place, we have received a notice of intent to award a contract, etc.).

The outlook for the Company’s revenue growth over the next several years remains favorable. However, revenue growth could be hampered by unanticipated project delays or the
timing of project bids, awards, commencements, ramp-up activities and completions. We anticipate that we will continue to win our share of significant new project awards resulting from
long-term, well-funded capital spending plans by state, local and federal customers, as well as limited competition for some of the largest project opportunities.

Since 2014, voters in 43 states have approved 85 percent of over 3,000 state and local ballot measures, raising an estimated $342 billion in new and renewed revenue funding for
transportation investments. The largest of these was in Los Angeles County, where Measure M, a half-cent sales tax increase, was approved in 2016 and is expected to generate
$120 billion of funding over 40 years. Funding from this measure is supporting, and is expected to continue to support, several of the Company’s current and prospective projects.
Despite numerous interest rate increases since March 2022, rates are still at levels that we believe are conducive to continued spending on certain types of projects that have strong end-
market demand with adequate available funding, such as mass transit, transportation, bridges, and healthcare, educational, and correctional and detention facilities, among others. Many
economists believe that interest rates will begin to fall as early as September 2024, though the actual timing and extent of any reductions remains uncertain. Lower interest rates could
support additional demand for continued infrastructure spending. In contrast, should interest rates rise, they could reach levels that may further negatively impact demand, especially for
certain types of Building segment projects that have already been experiencing such impacts, such as commercial offices and tenant improvement projects, which tend to be more
economically sensitive than projects handled by our Civil segment.

The bipartisan Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (the “Bipartisan Infrastructure Law” or “BIL”), enacted into law in November 2021, provides for $1.2 trillion of federal infrastructure
funding, including $550 billion in new spending for improvements to the country’s surface-transportation network and enhancements to core infrastructure. The law initiated the largest
federal investment in public transit ever, the single largest dedicated bridge investment since the construction of the interstate highway system and the largest federal investment in
passenger rail since the creation of Amtrak, all in addition to providing for regular annual spending for numerous infrastructure projects. This significant incremental funding is anticipated
to be spent over the 10 years from its enactment through 2031, and much of it is allocated for investment in end markets that are directly aligned with the Company’s market focus.
Accordingly, the Company believes that this significant level of sustained, incremental funding has benefited, and will continue to favorably impact, the Company’s current work and
prospective opportunities over the next decade.

For a more detailed discussion of the operating performance of each business segment, corporate general and administrative expenses and other items, see Results of Segment
Operations, Corporate, Tax and Other Matters  and Liquidity and Capital Resources  below.

(a) (b)
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Results of Segment Operations

The results of our Civil, Building and Specialty Contractors segments are discussed below.

Civil Segment

Revenue and income from construction operations for the Civil segment are summarized as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenue $ 546.5 $ 554.1 $ 1,018.7 $ 904.0 

Income from construction operations 75.6 105.4 146.3 123.4 

Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2024 decreased slightly compared to the same period in 2023, primarily due to the absence of prior-year favorable adjustments, as
described in the paragraph below, largely offset by a net increase in project execution activities in the current-year period. The net increase in project execution activities was primarily
driven by certain mass-transit projects in California, two airport projects in the Northern Mariana Islands and the tunneling component of an energy project in British Columbia, partially
offset by reduced project execution activities on a completed transportation project in the Northeast and a mass-transit project in the Midwest that is nearing completion. Revenue for the
six months ended June 30, 2024 increased 13% compared to the same period in 2023, primarily due to net increased project execution activities on the same projects discussed above,
partially offset by the absence of certain prior-year net favorable adjustments, as described in the paragraph below.

Income from construction operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was $75.6 million and $146.3 million, respectively, compared to $105.4 million and $123.4 million
for the same periods in 2023. For the second quarter of 2024, the decrease was primarily due to the absence of prior-year favorable adjustments totaling $58.1 million on a mass-transit
project in California associated with changes in estimates due to improved performance, as well as a current-year unfavorable adjustment of $12.4 million due to the impact of a
settlement on two completed highway projects in the Northeast. The impact of these unfavorable changes was partially offset by contributions related to the net increased project
execution activities discussed above. For the first six months of 2024, the increase was due to contributions related to the net increased project execution activities discussed above and
a $10.2 million favorable adjustment on a mass-transit project in California related to a dispute resolution and associated expected cost savings. The increase was also due to the
absence of a prior-year unfavorable adjustment of $13.1 million on a completed transportation project in the Northeast, split evenly between the Civil and Building segments, due to the
settlement of certain change orders during project closeout. These improvements were mostly offset by the absence of prior-year net favorable adjustments totaling $30.1 million on a
mass-transit project in California associated with changes in estimates due to improved performance and the unfavorable adjustment that impacted the second quarter of 2024, as
discussed above.

Operating margin was 13.8% and 14.4% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, compared to 19.0% and 13.7% for the same periods in 2023. The changes in
operating margin were principally due to the above-mentioned factors that drove the changes in revenue and income from construction operations.

New awards in the Civil segment totaled $814.5 million and $1.1 billion for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, compared to $689.7 million and $1.1 billion for
the same periods in 2023. The most significant new awards and contract adjustments in the second quarter of 2024 included the Company’s proportionate share of its contract value for
a $1.3 billion bridge replacement project in Connecticut; $144 million of additional funding for certain mass-transit projects in California; a $136 million highway and bridge project in the
Midwest; a $74 million military facilities project in Guam; and a $54 million bridge project in Minnesota.

Backlog for the Civil segment was $4.4 billion as of June 30, 2024 compared to $4.6 billion as of June 30, 2023. The segment continues to experience strong demand reflected in a large,
multi-year pipeline of prospective projects, supported by substantial anticipated funding from various voter-approved transportation measures, the BIL, and by public agencies’ long-term
spending plans. We believe that the Civil segment is well-positioned to capture its share of these prospective projects, but the timing of new awards remains uncertain.

36



Table of Contents

Building Segment

Revenue and income (loss) from construction operations for the Building segment are summarized as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenue $ 417.9 $ 331.3 $ 829.8 $ 561.0 

Income (loss) from construction operations 5.0 (13.8) 21.2 (84.0)

Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2024 increased 26% compared to the same period in 2023, primarily due to increased project execution activities on various healthcare
and educational facility projects in California and a detention facility project in New York. Revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2024 increased 48% compared to the same period
in 2023, primarily due to contributions from the increased project execution activities mentioned above, as well as the absence of a prior-year unfavorable adjustment related to an
adverse legal ruling on a completed mixed-use project in New York.

Income from construction operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was $5.0 million and $21.2 million, respectively, compared to loss from construction operations of
$13.8 million and $84.0 million for the same periods in 2023. For the second quarter of 2024, the improvement was primarily due to the increased project execution activities discussed
above, as well as the absence of a prior-year unfavorable adjustment of $13.1 million on a completed transportation project in the Northeast, split evenly between the Civil and Building
segments, due to the settlement of certain change orders during project closeout. For the first six months of 2024, the significant improvement was principally due to the absence of the
aforementioned prior-year unfavorable adjustment related to the adverse legal ruling on a completed mixed-use project in New York that resulted in a non-cash charge of $83.6 million,
of which $72.2 million impacted the Building segment, as well as contributions related to the increased project execution activities discussed above.

Operating margin was 1.2% and 2.6% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, compared to (4.2)% and (15.0)% for the same periods in 2023. The improvements
in operating margin were principally due to the aforementioned factors that drove the changes in revenue and income (loss) from construction operations.

New awards in the Building segment totaled $436.7 million and $841.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, compared to $2.6 billion and $2.8 billion
for the same periods in 2023. The 2023 periods included the award of the Brooklyn Jail project in New York. The most significant new awards and contract adjustments in the second
quarter of 2024 included a $216 million airport terminal connectors project at Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport in Florida; $71 million of additional funding for various
healthcare projects in California; and a $49 million government facility rehabilitation project in California. The proliferation of remote and hybrid work settings at many companies, along
with continued higher interest rates, could continue to result in certain delayed or even canceled Building segment project opportunities, particularly in the corporate office end market.
However, other Building segment end markets, such as correctional and detention facilities, healthcare, education, industrial/manufacturing, and hospitality and gaming, continue to show
strong demand for new and renovated facilities.

Backlog for the Building segment was $4.2 billion as of June 30, 2024, down 6% compared to $4.5 billion as of June 30, 2023. We believe that the Building segment continues to
experience strong customer demand as reflected by a large volume of prospective projects across various end markets and geographic locations, but the timing of new awards remains
uncertain.

Specialty Contractors Segment

Revenue and loss from construction operations for the Specialty Contractors segment are summarized as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenue $ 163.1 $ 136.3 $ 328.0 $ 333.1 

Loss from construction operations (7.8) (69.8) (26.2) (82.3)

Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2024 increased 20% compared to the same period in 2023, partially due to the absence of prior-year unfavorable adjustments related to
changes in estimates on the electrical and mechanical scope of a completed transportation project in the Northeast associated with a change in the expected recovery on certain
unapproved change orders, as well as a prior-year adverse legal ruling on an educational facilities project in New York. The increase was partially offset by reduced project execution
activities on an industrial facility project in Arizona and various electrical and
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mechanical projects in New York, all of which are complete or nearing completion. Revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2024 decreased 2% compared to the same period in
2023.

Loss from construction operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was $7.8 million and $26.2 million, respectively, compared to loss from construction operations of
$69.8 million and $82.3 million for the same periods in 2023. For the second quarter of 2024, the improvement was primarily due to the absence of prior-year unfavorable adjustments,
including $35.8 million due to changes in estimates on the electrical and mechanical scope of the above-mentioned transportation project in the Northeast, as well as a non-cash charge
of $24.7 million on an educational facilities project in New York that resulted from an adverse court ruling. For the first six months of 2024, the improvement was primarily due to the
absence of the same prior-year unfavorable adjustments as discussed above for the second quarter of 2024, as well as the absence of a prior-year unfavorable adjustment related to the
adverse legal ruling on a completed mixed-use project in New York that resulted in a non-cash charge of $83.6 million, of which $11.4 million impacted the Specialty Contractors
segment. The improvement was partially offset by an unfavorable adjustment of $12.0 million in the first quarter of 2024 due to an arbitration ruling pertaining to a completed electrical
project in New York that only provided a partial award to the Company.

Operating margin was (4.8)% and (8.0)% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, compared to (51.2)% and (24.7)% for the same periods in 2023. The changes
in operating margin were principally due to the aforementioned factors that drove the changes in revenue and loss from construction operations.

New awards in the Specialty Contractors segment totaled $313.0 million and $453.3 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, compared to $716.3 million
and $870.4 million for the same periods in 2023. The most significant new award in the second quarter of 2024 was a $127 million electrical project in New York.

Backlog for the Specialty Contractors segment was $1.9 billion as of June 30, 2024, up 2.1% compared to $1.8 billion as of June 30, 2023. The Specialty Contractors segment continues
to be primarily focused on servicing the Company’s current and prospective large Civil and Building segment projects, particularly in the Northeast and California. We believe that the
segment remains well-positioned to capture its share of new projects, leveraging the size and scale of our business units that operate in New York, Texas, Florida and California and the
strong reputation held by these business units for high-quality work on large, complex projects.

Corporate, Tax and Other Matters

Corporate General and Administrative Expenses

Corporate general and administrative expenses were $31.5 million and $51.3 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, compared to $18.6 million and
$35.0 million for the same periods in 2023. The increase in the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was primarily due to higher compensation-related expenses, mainly
attributable to higher share-based compensation expense. The increase in share-based compensation expense was primarily due to a substantial increase in the Company’s stock price
during the 2024 periods, which impacted the fair value of liability-classified awards. These awards are remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with the change in fair
value recognized in earnings.

Other Income, Net, Interest Expense and Income Tax (Expense) Benefit

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Other income, net $ 5.8 $ 3.1 $ 11.1 $ 9.5 

Interest expense (23.1) (22.0) (42.4) (43.5)

Income tax (expense) benefit (7.3) (0.2) (14.6) 47.9 

Other income, net for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 increased $2.7 million and $1.6 million, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2023.

Interest expense for the three months ended June 30, 2024 increased by $1.1 million compared to the same period in 2023. Interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2024
decreased by $1.1 million compared to the same period in 2023.

The Company recognized an income tax expense of $7.3 million and $14.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively. The effective income tax rate was
31.3% and 25.1% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively. The effective income tax rate for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was higher than
the 21.0% federal statutory income tax rate primarily due to non-deductible expenses and state income taxes (net of the federal tax
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benefit), partially offset by the earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests (for which income taxes are not the responsibility of the Company).

The Company recognized an income tax expense of $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and an income tax benefit of $47.9 million for the six months ended June 30,
2023. The effective income tax rate was (1.2)% and 42.2% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The effective income tax rate for the three months ended
June 30, 2023 was lower than the 21.0% federal statutory rate primarily due to the impact of a cumulative catch-up adjustment associated with the change in the Company’s projected
2023 effective tax rate that resulted from the revision of the Company’s forecast. The effective income tax rates for both periods were impacted by relatively large tax benefits generated
against a forecasted pre-tax loss for the year, which magnified the impact these tax benefits had on the effective income tax rate. In periods with pre-tax losses, tax benefits generated
during the period increase the effective income tax rate (and, thus, the income tax benefit to the Company) rather than decreasing the effective rate, as in periods with pre-tax income.
The tax benefits that caused a higher effective tax rate primarily included the earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests (for which income taxes are not the responsibility of the
Company) and state income taxes (net of the federal tax benefit), partially offset by non-deductible expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is provided by available cash and cash equivalents, cash generated from operations, credit facilities and access to capital markets. We have a committed line of credit totaling
$170.0 million, which may be used for revolving loans, letters of credit and/or general purposes. We believe that cash generated from operations, along with our unused credit capacity
and available cash balances as of June 30, 2024, will be sufficient to fund working capital needs and debt maturities for the next 12 months and beyond, as discussed further in Debt
below. We generated significant operating cash flow in the first six months of 2024 as discussed below in Cash and Working Capital.  We expect strong operating cash flow to continue
for the remainder of 2024, based on projected cash collections, both from project execution activities and the resolution of additional outstanding claims and unapproved change orders,
including COVID-19-related cost recoveries from certain customers. For example, the cash collections associated with the above-mentioned settlement on two completed Civil segment
highway projects in the Northeast are expected to have a significant positive impact on the Company’s third-quarter cash generated from operations. In addition, we expect to benefit
from the utilization of available net operating loss carryforwards to reduce our cash outflows for income taxes.

Cash and Working Capital

Cash and cash equivalents were $267.1 million as of June 30, 2024 compared to $380.6 million as of December 31, 2023. Cash immediately available for general corporate purposes
was $84.1 million and $145.1 million as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively, with the remainder being amounts held by our consolidated joint ventures and also our
proportionate share of cash held by our unconsolidated joint ventures. Cash held by our joint ventures is available only for joint venture-related uses, including distributions to joint
venture partners. In addition, our restricted cash and restricted investments totaled $146.6 million as of June 30, 2024 compared to $144.4 million as of December 31, 2023. Restricted
cash and restricted investments at June 30, 2024 were primarily held to secure insurance-related contingent obligations and deposits.

During the six months ended June 30, 2024, net cash provided by operating activities was $151.4 million, the second-largest result for the first six months of any year since the merger
between Tutor-Saliba Corporation and Perini Corporation in 2008. The net cash provided by operating activities for the 2024 period was primarily due to cash generated by earnings
sources and a reduction in net project working capital. The reduction in net project working capital was primarily due to an increase in accounts payable, as a result of the timing of
payments to subcontractors and vendors, partially offset by a decrease in billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings (“BIE”). During the six months ended June 30, 2023, net cash
provided by operating activities was $77.7 million. The net cash provided by operating activities for the 2023 period was primarily due to a reduction in net project working capital,
partially offset by cash utilized by earnings sources. The reduction in net project working capital was primarily due to a decrease in costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings
(“CIE”) and an increase in BIE, partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable.

Cash flow from operating activities for the first six months of 2024 increased $73.8 million compared to the same period in 2023. The increase in cash flow from operating activities for
the first six months of 2024 compared to 2023 primarily reflects cash generated by earning sources in the current period compared to cash used by earnings sources in the same period
last year, partially offset by a smaller reduction in net project working capital in the current period compared to the prior-year period. The smaller reduction in net project working capital in
the 2024 period was primarily due to a current-year increase in CIE compared to a decrease last year, and a current-year decrease in BIE compared to an increase last year, partially
offset by a current-year increase in accounts payable compared to a decrease last year. Both periods were positively impacted by collections associated with previously disputed
matters.
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Net cash used in investing activities during the first six months of 2024 was $24.0 million primarily due to the acquisition of property and equipment for projects (i.e., capital expenditures)
totaling $21.4 million and net cash used in investment transactions of $4.1 million. Net cash used in investing activities during the first six months of 2023 was $29.2 million primarily due
to the acquisition of property and equipment for projects totaling $30.6 million, as well as net cash used in investment transactions of $5.3 million, partially offset by proceeds from the
sale of property and equipment of $6.8 million.

Net cash used in financing activities was $242.6 million for the first six months of 2024, which was primarily driven by a $202.9 million net repayment of debt (including the 2024 Senior
Notes issuance of $400.0 million and the 2017 Senior Notes redemption of $500.0 million, as well as the $91.0 million principal repayment on the Term Loan B, all of which are discussed
below in Debt), $25.1 million of payments for debt issuance costs related to debt transactions during the period and $12.4 million of distributions to noncontrolling interests. Net cash
used in financing activities was $47.9 million for the first six months of 2023, which was primarily driven by a $33.8 million net repayment of debt and $13.3 million of net distributions to
noncontrolling interests.

At June 30, 2024, we had working capital of $1.3 billion, a ratio of current assets to current liabilities of 1.65 and a ratio of debt to equity of 0.51, compared to working capital of $1.4
billion, a ratio of current assets to current liabilities of 1.66 and a ratio of debt to equity of 0.70 at December 31, 2023.

Debt

2024 Senior Notes Issuance and 2017 Senior Notes Redemption

On April 22, 2024, the Company issued $400.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 11.875% Senior Notes due April 30, 2029 (the “2024 Senior Notes”) in a private placement
offering. Interest on the 2024 Senior Notes is payable in arrears semi-annually in April and October of each year, beginning in October 2024.

Prior to April 30, 2026, the Company may redeem the 2024 Senior Notes at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus a “make-whole” premium described in the
indenture. In addition, prior to April 30, 2026, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the original aggregate principal amount of the 2024 Senior Notes at a redemption price of
111.875% of their principal amount with the “net cash proceeds” received by the Company from one or more equity offerings, as described in the indenture. On or after April 30, 2026,
the Company may redeem the 2024 Senior Notes at specified redemption prices described in the indenture. If the Company experiences certain change of control events, holders of the
2024 Senior Notes may require the Company to repurchase all or part of the 2024 Senior Notes at 101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the
redemption date.

The 2024 Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and are guaranteed by the Company’s existing and future subsidiaries that also guarantee obligations under
the Company’s 2020 Credit Agreement. In addition, the indenture for the 2024 Senior Notes provides for customary covenants and includes customary events of default.

The proceeds of the 2024 Senior Notes, together with cash on hand, were used to redeem in full, all of the outstanding obligations in respect of the 2017 Senior Notes. The redemption
of the 2017 Senior Notes occurred on May 2, 2024 (the “2017 Senior Notes Redemption”).

2020 Credit Agreement

On August 18, 2020, the Company entered into a credit agreement (as amended, the “2020 Credit Agreement”) with BMO Bank N.A. (f/k/a BMO Harris Bank N.A.), as Administrative
Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer and other lenders. The 2020 Credit Agreement originally provided for a $425.0 million term loan B facility (the “Term Loan B”) and a
$175.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolver”), which was subsequently reduced to $170.0 million following the effectiveness of the 2024 Amendment (as defined and discussed
below), with sub-limits for the issuance of letters of credit and swing line loans up to the aggregate amounts of $75.0 million and $10.0 million, respectively. Prior to the 2017 Senior
Notes Redemption, if any of the 2017 Senior Notes had remained outstanding beyond certain dates, the maturities of the Term Loan B and the Revolver would have been subject to
acceleration (“spring-forward maturity”). However, following the 2017 Senior Notes Redemption and the consummation of the 2024 Amendment, the spring-forward maturity of the Term
Loan B is no longer in effect and the spring-forward maturity of the Revolver has been extended (as described below).

On April 15, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment in respect of the 2020 Credit Agreement (the “2024 Amendment”) which, among other changes, (1) extends the existing
Revolver maturity date from August 18, 2025 to (a) if any tranche of the Term Loan B, any incremental term loan or any refinancing term loan (or any refinancing or replacement thereof)
remains outstanding, the earlier of (i) May 20, 2027 and (ii) the date that is ninety (90) days prior to the final maturity of any tranche of
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the Term Loan B, any incremental term loan or any refinancing term loan (or any refinancing or replacement thereof), as applicable, and (b) if no obligations are outstanding with respect
to any tranche of the Term Loan B, any incremental term loan or any refinancing term loan, August 18, 2027 and (2) permanently reduces the aggregate commitments in respect of the
Revolver by $5.0 million from $175.0 million to $170.0 million. The 2024 Amendment became effective on May 2, 2024 upon the completion of the 2017 Senior Notes Redemption.

Subject to certain exceptions, at any time prior to maturity, the 2020 Credit Agreement provides the Company with the right to increase the commitments under the Revolver and/or to
establish one or more term loan facilities in an aggregate amount up to (i) the greater of $173.5 million and 50% LTM EBITDA (as defined in the 2020 Credit Agreement) plus (ii)
additional amounts if (A) in the case of pari passu first lien secured indebtedness, the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the 2020 Credit Agreement) does not exceed
1.35:1.00, (B) in the case of junior lien secured indebtedness, the Total Net Leverage Ratio, as defined in the 2020 Credit Agreement, does not exceed 3.50:1.00, and (C) in the case of
unsecured indebtedness, (x) the Total Net Leverage Ratio does not exceed 3.50:1.00 or (y) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the 2020 Credit Agreement) is no less than
2.00:1.00. The balances of indebtedness used in the calculations of the First Lien Net Leverage Ratio and the Total Net Leverage Ratio include offsets for cash and cash equivalents
available for general corporate purposes.

As of June 30, 2024, the Revolver had unused available borrowing capacity of $170.0 million, and the outstanding balance of the Term Loan B and the 2024 Senior Notes wer e
$274.0 million and $400.0 million, respectively.

The 2020 Credit Agreement requires the Company to make prepayments on the Term Loan B in connection with certain asset sales, receipts of insurance proceeds, incurrences of
certain indebtedness and annual excess cash flow (in each case, subject to certain customary exceptions). At December 31, 2023, current maturities of long-term debt in the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets included $91.0 million of principal on the Term Loan B, relating to the mandatory prepayment provision of the 2020 Credit
Agreement in respect of annual excess cash flow. The $91.0 million principal prepayment, which was due by the first week of April 2024, was paid in February 2024.

Borrowings under the 2020 Credit Agreement bear interest at variable rates, which have increased since the latter part of 2022 due to changes in market conditions that resulted in
increases in the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) (and the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) prior to the transition to SOFR), in the case of the Term Loan B, and the
administrative agent’s prime lending rate, in the case of the Revolver. Effective May 2, 2023, the 2020 Credit Agreement was amended to transition the Company’s original LIBOR option
in respect of the Term Loan B to Adjusted Term SOFR. The average borrowing rates on the Term Loan B and the Revolver for the six months ended June 30, 2024 were approximately
10.2% and 12.0%, respectively . At June 30, 2024, the borrowing rates on the Term Loan B and the Revolver were  10.2% and 12.0% , respectively. For more information regarding the
terms of our 2020 Credit Agreement, refer to Note 9 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

The table below presents our actual and required First Lien Net Leverage ratio under the 2020 Credit Agreement for the period, which is calculated on a rolling four-quarter basis:

Trailing Four Fiscal Quarters Ended

June 30, 2024

Actual Required

First lien net leverage ratio 1.15 to 1.00 ≤ 2.25 : 1.00

The 2020 Credit Agreement requires, solely with respect to the Revolver, the Company and its restricted subsidiaries to maintain a maximum First Lien Net Leverage Ratio of 3.50:1.00,
effective the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2022 and increasing to 3.75:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2023 and subsequently stepping down to 3.00:1.00 for the fiscal
quarter ending June 30, 2023, 2.50:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2023 and 2.25:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2023 and each fiscal quarter
thereafter. As of June 30, 2024, we were in compliance and expect to continue to be in compliance with the covenants under the 2020 Credit Agreement.

Contractual Obligations

Other than the issuance of the 2024 Senior Notes and redemption of our 2017 Senior Notes, as discussed above in Debt, there have been no material changes in our contractual
obligations from those described in our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the year ended
December 31, 2023. Our critical accounting estimates are also identified and discussed in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There has been no material change in our exposure to market risk from that described in Part II, Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined by Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (“Exchange Act”), as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q was made under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures (a) were effective to ensure that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and (b) include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, we are involved in various legal proceedings. We disclose information about certain pending legal proceedings pursuant to SEC rules and as we
otherwise determine to be appropriate. For information on such pending matters, see Part I, Item 3 of our Annual Report on Form 10‑K for the year ended December 31, 2023, updated
by Note 11 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to our risk factors as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Section 1503 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act requires domestic mine operators to disclose violations and orders issued under the Federal Mine
Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the “Mine Act”) by the federal Mine Safety and Health Administration. We do not own or operate any mines; however, we may be considered a mine
operator as defined under the Mine Act because we provide construction services to customers in the mining industry. Accordingly, we provide information regarding mine safety
violations and other mining regulation matters in Exhibit 95 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Item 5. Other Information

(c) Trading Plans

During the quarter ended June 30, 2024, no director or Section 16 officer adopted or terminated any Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements (in
each case, as defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K) .

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibits Description

3.1 Restated Articles of Organization of Tutor Perini Corporation, as filed with the Secretary of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts on May 22, 2024 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K filed on May 24, 2024).

3.2 Fifth Amended and Restated By-Laws of Tutor Perini Corporation, dated as of May 22, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Form 8-K filed on May 24,
2024).

10.1* Amendment to Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, dated June 13, 2024, by and between Tutor Perini Corporation and Ronald N. Tutor.

10.2* Separation Agreement, dated July 25, 2024, by and between Tutor Perini Corporation and Michael F. Smithson.

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

95 Mine Safety Disclosure.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document – The instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

104 The cover page from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2024, formatted in Inline XBRL (included as Exhibit 101).

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________

*    Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Tutor Perini Corporation

Dated: August 1, 2024 By: /s/ Ryan J. Soroka

Ryan J. Soroka

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ronald N. Tutor, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tutor Perini Corporation (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 1, 2024 /s/ Ronald N. Tutor

Ronald N. Tutor

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ryan J. Soroka, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tutor Perini Corporation (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: August 1, 2024 /s/ Ryan J. Soroka

Ryan J. Soroka

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Tutor Perini Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Ronald N. Tutor, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
Date: August 1, 2024 /s/ Ronald N. Tutor

Ronald N. Tutor

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Tutor Perini Corporation and will be retained by Tutor Perini Corporation and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Tutor Perini Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Ryan J. Soroka, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
Date: August 1, 2024 /s/ Ryan J. Soroka

Ryan J. Soroka

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Tutor Perini Corporation and will be retained by Tutor Perini Corporation and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



 

Exhibit 95

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Section 1503 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act requires domestic mine operators to disclose violations and orders issued under the Federal Mine
Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the “Mine Act”) by the federal Mine Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA”). We do not act as the owner of any mines; however, we may be
considered a mine operator as defined under the Mine Act because we provide construction services to customers in the mining industry. Due to timing and other factors, the data below
may not agree with the mine data retrieval system maintained by MSHA.

The following table provides information for the quarter ended June 30, 2024.

Mine

Mine Act §104

Violations 

Mine Act

§104(b)

Orders 

Mine Act §104(d)

Citations and

Orders 

Mine Act §110(b)(2)

Violations 

Mine Act

§107(a)

Orders 

Proposed

Assessments

from MSHA

(In dollars ($))

Mining Related

Fatalities

Mine Act

§104(e) Notice

(yes/no) 

Pending Legal Action

before Federal Mine

Safety and Health

Review Commission

(yes/no)

Blue Creek Mine No. 1 7 — — — — $ 1,304 — No No

Buchanan Mine #1 1 — — — — $ — — No No

Warrior Met - No. 4 2 — — — — $ 3,032 — No No

(1) United States mines.

(2) The total number of violations received from MSHA under §104 of the Mine Act, which includes citations for health or safety standards that could significantly and substantially
contribute to a serious injury if left unabated.

(3) The total number of orders issued by MSHA under §104(b) of the Mine Act, which represents a failure to abate a citation under §104(a) within the period of time prescribed by
MSHA.

(4) The total number of citations and orders issued by MSHA under §104(d) of the Mine Act for unwarrantable failure to comply with mandatory health or safety standards.

(5) The total number of flagrant violations issued by MSHA under §110(b)(2) of the Mine Act.

(6) The total number of orders issued by MSHA under §107(a) of the Mine Act for situations in which MSHA determined an imminent danger existed.

(7) A written notice from the MSHA regarding a pattern of violations, or a potential to have such pattern under §104(e) of the Mine Act.

 (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7)


